
 
 

 

 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OCOMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY F WAY F WAY F WAY 

COMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEECOMMITTEE    

    

10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am10.00 am    

 

Thursday 19th February, 2015Thursday 19th February, 2015Thursday 19th February, 2015Thursday 19th February, 2015 

 

 

Council Chamber Council Chamber Council Chamber Council Chamber ----    Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, Shire Hall, 

GloucesterGloucesterGloucesterGloucester 

 

 

 

MEETING PAPERS 

 
 



 
 



 
 

 

 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

 

COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 

TIME: 10.00 am 

DATE: Thursday 19th February, 2015 

VENUE: Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 
A G E N D A 

 
ITEM TOPIC CONTACT 
1. Public Questions on Application(s)   
  

To answer any written or public questions about the application(s) 
before the Committee at this meeting.  The closing date /time for 
the receipt of questions  
is 10 am on 12 February 2015. 
 
With the consent of the Chairperson, to answer any oral 
question(s) on the application(s) before the Committee at this 
meeting put by members of the public. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

2. Members Questions on Application(s)   
 To answer any written members’ questions on the application(s) 

before Committee at the meeting. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10am on 12 February 2015. 
 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

3. Application for the registration of land known as "The Glebe / 
The Leaze", West of Front Street and North of Church Street, 
Nympsfield, Stroud, (Pages 1 - 106) 

 

  
To consider the following application: 

An application to register land known as “The Glebe / The Leaze”, 

west of Front Street & north of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud 

as a new town or village green. 

 
 



 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

 
 

4. Public Questions -   
 To answer any written or public questions about the matters, 

which are within the powers and duties of the Committee. 
 
The closing date /time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 12 
February 2015. 
 
To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in 
which case a written answer will be supplied as soon as 
reasonably possible after the meeting. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

5. Members' Questions -   
 To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 

for the receipt of questions is 10am on 12 February 2015. 
 

Jane Cleaver 
Tel: 01452 
425096 

 

NOTES 

(a) MEMBERSHIP –Cllr John Cordwell, Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Richard Leppington, 
Cllr Paul McMahon, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Prince, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Simon Wheeler 
 

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns �01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting.  
 

(c) Will Members please sign the attendance list. 
 

(d) Please note substitution arrangements are in place as detailed in the 
Constitution. 
 

(e) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact  
 
Jane Cleaver, Senior Democratic Services Advisor, 01452 425094 e-mail 
jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 

(f) RECORDING OF MEETINGS - Please note that photography, filming and audio 
recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the Local Government 
Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 



 
Published Date Not Specified 
 

01452 425096) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If 
you are a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed 
please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.   
 

 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 
 

Application for the registration of land known as “The Glebe / The Leaze”, 
West of Front Street and North of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud, 

Gloucestershire, as a town or village green under Section 15 Of The Commons 
Act 2006 

 

Report of the Head of Legal Services 

1. Purpose of the Report 

To consider the following application: 

An application to register land known as “The Glebe / The Leaze”, west of Front 

Street & north of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud  as a new town or village green. 

 

Application Land: 

Land known as “”The Glebe / The Leaze”, shown edged red on the plan attached to 

the Application and set out in Appendix 1. 

 

Name of Applicant: Dr Ian Crossland.  

Date of Application: 1 April 2010. 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

2. Recommendation 

That the Application dated 1 April 2010 made by Dr Ian Crossland (“the Applicant”) 

for the registration of an area of land known as “The Glebe / The Leaze”, west of 

Front Street and north of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud, Gloucestershire (as 

shown edged red on the plan attached to the Application Appendix 1) as a town or 

village green pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 should be APPROVED 

for the reasons set out in the Inspectors report attached at Appendix 2. 

3. Statutory Authority 

Section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 (“the Act”) provides for the amendment of the 

register of town or village greens maintained by the County Council as the Commons 

Registration Authority (“CRA”) where “any land becomes…a town or village green”. 

Any person may make an application to the CRA for the amendment of the register 

provided that the criteria set out in section 15 of the Act for the establishment of a 

town or village green is met. The County Council as the CRA is obliged to consider 

any such application, duly made, in accordance with the relevant regulations and to 

register any land should that statutory criterion be met. 

4. Report 

4.1 Description 

The area of land that is the subject of this application (“the Application”) is known as 

“The Glebe / The Leaze”, west of Front Street and north of Church Street, 

Nympsfield, Stroud, Gloucestershire (“Application Land”). The Application Land is a 

single field that is irregular in shape. The entirety of the southern boundary abuts 

Church Street and the western boundary largely abuts Front Street, save that for part 

of the length of that boundary where there is a property, Springland, which sits 

between the Application Land and Front Street. The northern boundary is adjacent to 

the gardens of residential properties and to the east the Application Land adjoins 

gardens in the northern part and allotments and the village hall car park in the 

southern part. The Application Land has a flat plateau across the northern section 

and it then slopes down towards Church Street in the southern section. 

Page 2



 

The Application Land is crossed by Public Footpath No. 7 that has points of entry 

and egress in the south onto Church Street and in the north onto Front Street. 

4.2 General 

 

4.2.1 Town or village greens are areas of land within defined settlements or 

geographical areas of land which are used for sports and recreational 

pastimes by the inhabitants of the neighbourhood or locality. A town or village 

green may be privately owned although in practice many are owned by the 

local district/parish council. 

 

4.2.2 The Act sets out the legal criteria that is required for a town or village green to 

be registered. Section 15(2) of the Act sets out the test that needs to be met 

for an area of land to be registered as a town or village green. Each element 

of the test needs to be met for an application to be successful.  

Section 15(2) states: - 

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or of any  

     neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful  

     sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years, and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application”. 

 

4.2.3 Statutory Test 

• Significant Number 

The term was defined in the case of R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County 

Council (2002) Sullivan J said that “significant” did not mean a considerable or 

a substantial number.  It means that the number of people using the land in 

question in a qualifying manner has to have been sufficient to indicate to the 

landowner that the land has been in general use by the local community for 

informal recreation as a distinct from occasional use by individuals as 

trespassers. 

 

Page 3



 

It is not necessary for the recreational users to come predominately from the 

relevant locality or neighbourhood, nor is it necessary for there to be a spread 

of users coming from across the entirety of the claimed locality or 

neighbourhood. However, only recreational use by members of the public 

from the relevant locality or neighbourhood will contribute to the “significant 

number” test. That is, use by people that do not come from within the claimed 

locality or neighbourhood does not support an application for registration of a 

new town or village green and should be discounted to the extent that 

evidence of such use is adduced. The statutory test is clear that use must be 

by “a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality” such components of the test must be read 

together. 

• Inhabitants of any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality 

A locality must be an area recognised in law (e.g. parish boundary), as set out 

by Sullivan J in the case of Cheltenham Builders Limited v South 

Gloucestershire District. However a “neighbourhood” does not have to be 

legally recognised and may for example cover a housing estate. A 

neighbourhood cannot be just any area drawn on a map; it must have some 

degree of cohesiveness. Its boundaries must be ascertainable given that the 

effect of registration as a new town or village green is to confer upon the 

inhabitants of the locality or neighbourhood relied upon, general recreational 

rights.  It is therefore, necessary to be able to identify those who are 

possessed of the right to use the land and those post-registration users who 

continue to be trespassers against whom the landowner would be entitled to 

bring proceedings.  The CRA has to be satisfied that the area alleged to be a 

neighbourhood has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness in order to satisfy the 

test. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 4



 

 

• The term “as of right” 

An applicant must show that the land has been used without force, stealth or 

permission from the landowner. 

 

Force is not limited to physical force, it also includes contentious or persisted 

in under protest. User that is secret or stealth will not constitute user as of 

right because such use would not come to the attention of the landowner. 

Permission does not have to be overt. It can be inferred from the conduct of 

the landowner (R (Mann) v Somerset County Council [2012]). Whether or not 

permission can be inferred or implied will depend upon the particular facts of 

any individual case. 

 

In circumstances where there has been concurrent use by the landowner it is 

well established that use by the landowner alongside use by recreational 

users will not automatically prevent land qualifying for registration as a new 

town or village green if the co-existing uses are not incompatible with each 

other. It is accepted that low level agricultural use of application land is not 

inconsistent with use of the land for lawful sports and pastimes. 

 

• Lawful sports and pastimes 

The type of activity which historically has been accepted has had to be 

something more than a mere wandering as it is “lawful sports and pastimes” 

required to satisfy the test and not “exercise and recreation”. Types of activity 

include, playing games e.g. cricket/rounders, dog walking, fruit picking, bird 

watching etc. 

 

• For a period of twenty years 

The 20 year period is the period immediately preceding the application, the 

final day of the period being that upon which the application is made. 

 

 

Page 5



 

4.2.4     Town and Village Green Procedure 

The procedure which has to be followed  in respect of determining town 

and village green applications is set out in the relevant Regulations “The 

Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim Arrangements) 

(England) Regulations 2007”. 

4.2.5 With regards to this Application, the Applicant has applied to register the 

land under section 15 (1) and (2) of the Act on the basis that ‘a significant 

number of the inhabitants have indulged in lawful sports and recreational 

pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years’ and they continued 

to do so at the time the Application was submitted to the CRA. 

4.3 Application and Background  

The Applicant submitted the Application to the CRA on the 1 April 2010. The 

Applicant sought to rely upon Nympsfield Parish as the locality for the claimed village 

green. The Applicant claimed local residents had indulged in lawful sports and 

pastimes as of right for not less than 20 years on the Application Land and up until 

the date of the Application. The Application was supported by statements of 

evidence from local residents. The evidence statements advised that the Application 

Land had been used for at least 20 years for activities such as dog walking, children 

playing, berry and nut picking, kite flying, sledging and cycling. 

The CRA advertised the Application in the Stroud News and Journal on  26 May 

2010 and by erecting site notices with a six week consultation period running until 7 

July 2010 as required by The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) 

(Interim Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007.  

An objection to the Application was received from the owner of the land, Gloucester 

Diocesan Board of Finance (“the Landowner”). The Landowner objected to the 

Application on the following grounds:-  

• The Landowner considered that the tests as set out in section 15(2) of the Act 

had not been met. They stated that a significant number of inhabitants had not 

used the Application Land for lawful sports and recreational purposes. 

Page 6



 

• The Landowner acquired the Application Land in 1978, at that time it was 

subject to a secure Agricultural Tenancy, the tenant at that time being Mr D 

Mills. Mr Mills was the tenant of the Application Land until he surrendered his 

tenancy in February 2005. Mr Mills used the land for grazing livestock and hay 

production. The tenancy agreement expressly prohibited the use of the land 

for “use of a sports ground”. As such the Landowner had not consented to the 

Application Land being used for such recreational purposes. 

 

 

• Following Mr Mills’s tenancy the Application Land was licensed on a number 

of annual grazing licences to Mr Smith from July 2005 and subsequently from 

August 2008 to Mr Romain, who continued to occupy the land at the time the 

Application was made. Mr Romain confirmed that trespass over the 

Application Land did not occur and that during his occupation the Application 

Land had never been used for recreation and sport. 

 

• Access to the Application Land would be from the public footpath that runs 

through the centre of the Application Land; the site is not accessible from any 

other part of the Application Land given that the walls and fences have been 

actively maintained. The footpath route is not fenced therefore it is possible 

for members of the public to stray from the footpath to other parts of the 

Application Land, but the tenants have stated that no recreational activities 

have taken place on the Application Land. 

 

 

• Apart from the worn track delineating the public footpath there are no other 

track markings, open areas subject to wear or any other indication of general 

use of the Application Land which suggests that significant number of users of 

the footpath do not stray from the route of the footpath. 

 

 

Page 7



 

• The Landowner’s agents monitor the land and its boundaries on a regular 

basis and advise of trespass and use outside the terms of the licences. 

 

• From time to time permission has been sought from the Landowner for the 

use of the Application Land and this recognition of the need for permission 

defeats any claim of use as of right by others. 

 

 

• The regular use of the Application Land by local inhabitants is not consistent 

with the tenant’s use for grazing animals or carrying out other agricultural 

activities. 

 

• The weight given to the evidence questionnaires is questionable given that 

they have been designed to illicit information with a view to satisfying a 

balance of probability test for the registration of the Application Land as a 

town or village green. 

The CRA forwarded the objection material to the Applicant for consideration and 

comment. A period of liaison occurred between the CRA and the parties allowing 

them to address issues raised by each other and in order for the CRA to establish 

key information to assist with the determination of the Application. 

As there was an impasse in the evidence placed before the CRA, the CRA 

considered that it would be prudent to instruct an independent Inspector to hear oral 

evidence from the parties to establish whether the Application satisfied the legal 

tests set out in section 15 of the Act, in particular as to whether the use could be 

considered for lawful sports and pastimes and for a continuing period of 20 years by 

local inhabitants. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

4.4 Pre- Inquiry Meeting  

The CRA held a pre inquiry meeting on 10 June 2014 between the Applicant and his 

colleagues, the  Landowner, and the appointed Inspector (Ms Rowena Meager of 

No.5 Chambers, Birmingham) to discuss any procedural issues and to set a date to 

hold the Inquiry. 

 

4.5 Inquiry Meeting 

The Inspector held a non-statutory Inquiry between the 10 November to the 13 

November 2014 at Nympsfield Village Hall, Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud, 

Gloucestershire. 

The Inspector heard evidence from 16 witnesses on behalf of the Applicant and 1 

witness on behalf of the Landowner in addition to the written evidence that had been 

submitted by both parties. 

 

The Inspector held a site visit on the 11 November 2014 with the County Council’s 

Principal Lawyer, Carrie Denness, in attendance and representatives from both the 

parties together with further members of the public. No evidence was heard during 

the site visit. The Inspector walked around the whole of the Application Land and in 

addition at the request of the Landowner’s counsel visited the newer housing 

development on Tinkley Lane and the King George V Playing Field. 

5.   Inspectors Report and Recommendation  

5.1  A copy of the Inspector’s report may be found at Appendix 2 and provides a 

detailed analysis of the evidence which was submitted at the Inquiry, together 

with all written submissions provided by the parties and those who addressed 

the Inquiry.  The report also applies the relevant case law and legal tests in 

respect of the Inspector making her recommendations to the Committee.   

 

 

Page 9



 

5.2 In testing all of the evidence at the Inquiry the Inspector has concluded that 

the relevant statutory criteria has been satisfied in relation to the Application 

and that consequently all of the Application Land should be registered as a 

village green.   

5.3      With regards to the Application meeting the statutory test set out in section 15 

of the Commons Act 2006 the Inspector found the following facts:- 

• Paragraph 226. 

“I find that throughout the relevant 20 year period the Application Land has 

been used consistently by local people for informal recreation of the nature 

described in the evidence. I have heard from a number of witnesses, all of 

whom I found credible…The evidence I heard satisfies me that the land has 

been extensively used by local people throughout the whole of the Application 

Period…I also find that such use has been of the Application Land as a whole 

and not confined to the public footpath and any informal track.” 

 

• Paragraph 227. 

“I have had the advantage of hearing from a number of witnesses that have 

used the land for the whole of the period as well as some that have only used 

for part of it and who, between them, have satisfied me that the necessary 

quality and quantity of use has been indulged in to support this Application. I 

have also heard many witnesses talk about the use they witness others 

making of the land both at the same time as them and at times that they were 

simply able to view the land. Many of those other users have been named or 

at least identified, perhaps by reference to their dog.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



 

• Paragraph 228. 

“ Having visited the Application Land and having seen the physical structure 

of the village around it, and I do accept what some of the Applicant’s 

witnesses said about the land being central to the village, it seems to me to be 

that the Application Land is a very attractive place upon which to indulge in 

informal recreation. It is rural, yet central (and therefore convenient and 

relatively safe) and ready access to it is provided by the entrance points, top 

and bottom, at either end of the public footpath. There are, of course, the 

further points of access from the allotments and from private gardens. It is 

unsurprising that people have used it in the way they say they have.” 

 

• Paragraph 229. 

“In drawing this conclusion I have taken full account of the evidence for the 

Objector. However, it is to be noted that I did not hear from Mr Romain or Ms 

Brady [tenants of the Application Land] and it appeared from the Applicant’s 

evidence that they were rarely seen on the Application Land…it seems to me 

that they were not really in a position to offer much in the way of evidence in 

relation to the recreational use that was being made of the land…” 

 

• Paragraph 230. 

I have also taken note of Mr Hiram’s [the Landowner’s witness] evidence in 

coming to this conclusion. Whilst he said he had never seen any recreational 

activity taking place on the land it is clear from his evidence that over the 

course of the last few years he has spent very little time at all on the land. I 

accept that he has interpreted the aerial photographs to mean that lack of 

evidence of wear and tear away from the public footpaths thereon means that 

there was no use away from the same. However, I do not accept that 

proposition. I accept as some of the Applicant’s witnesses suggested…,that 

use by people simply wandering around or playing randomly will not produce 

evidence of worn tracks. Lack of evidence of tracks does not mean no use 

and I am much more satisfied with direct evidence I have heard from people  

 

Page 11



 

that have used the land than the speculative interpretation of aerial 

photographs that are of varying quality.” 

 

• Paragraph 242. 

“I find as a matter of fact that the agricultural uses to which the land was put 

did not have the effect, save in a limited way, of curtailing the use of the 

Application Land being made by the local inhabitants. Notwithstanding the fact 

that a small number of people stayed away the whole of the land was still in 

use, in my view, even during periods when there was livestock in the field, for 

informal recreation.” 

 

5.4 Applying the law to the facts in this particular application the Inspector finds  

 that: - 

 

5.4.1 A Significant Number - Paragraph 248. 

“It is my view that as a matter of impression sufficient numbers of the 

inhabitants of the locality have indulged in qualifying use of the Application 

Land throughout the Application Period. In coming to this conclusion I have 

had regard to the number of witnesses that I heard from, the frequency of 

their use throughout the whole of the period and the evidence that they gave 

in relation to use by others that can be clearly identified as having come from 

within the claimed locality”. 

 

5.4.2 Of the inhabitants of any locality – paragraph 249. 

“A “locality” must be an area known to the law such as a borough, parish or 

manor. The Objector accepts that the civil parish of Nympsfield is a locality”. 

 

5.4.3 Have indulged as of right – paragraph 251.  

“…I have found that there is inadequate evidence on the balance of 

probabilities that Mr Romain challenged people’s use such as to make it 

contentious. I have also found that the evidence, such as it is, of Mr Mills 

taking people to task when they strayed off the footpath is inadequate to make 

user contentious. I have also seen and heard no evidence of signs having  

Page 12



 

been erected. I find that use was not, therefore, contentious and therefore by 

force”.  

 

5.4.4 In lawful sports and pastimes – Paragraph 255. 

“I have no difficulty in concluding that the activities about which I heard 

evidence from the Applicant’s witnesses came within the class of lawful sports 

and pastimes for the purposes of the 2006 Act.” 

 

5.4.5 For a period of 20 years – paragraph 259. 

“In the present case the relevant application period, as noted above is 31 

March 1990 to 1 April 2010. There is no doubt that I have heard evidence 

relating to the whole Application Period.” 

 

5.5 Members are recommended to accept the report of the Inspector and to 

determine that the Application to register land known as “The Glebe / The 

Leaze”, West of Front Street and North of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud, 

Gloucestershire as a town or village green be APPROVED and all of the 

Application Land be added to the Register of Town and Village Greens. 

 

6.  Background Evidence 

Members may consider the background evidence in its entirety prior to this 

Committee Meeting, if required, by contacting the officer directly on the details 

below. The evidence will not be presented at the Committee Meeting given that this 

has already been heard and tested by the appointed Inspector at the inquiry and duly 

considered in her findings within her report as attached. 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 

7.  Background Papers 

• Application & supporting documentation 

• Objection material 

• Background information and all correspondence 

• The Commons Act 2006 

• The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim 

Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2007 

• Ms Meager’s Report – sitting as the independent Inspector 

•  

8. Departmental Contact 

Carrie Denness – Principal Lawyer (Planning/Highways) 

Corporate Team 

Legal Services 

 

Tel: 01452 328724 

Email: carrie.denness@gloucestershire.gov.uk   

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



! "!

IN THE MATTER OF: 

 

 

AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN AS “THE GLEBE” / 

“THE LEAZE”, WEST OF FRONT STREET AND NORTH OF CHURCH 

STREET, NYMPSFIELD, STROUD, GLOUCESTERSHIRE, 

AS A NEW TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 

 

 

 

 

REPORT 

 

OF ROWENA MEAGER (INSPECTOR) 

Dated 28 January 2015 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Legal Services 

Quayside House 

Quay Street 

Gloucester 

GL1 2TZ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



! #!

1. I have prepared this report following an application (“the 

Application”) received by Gloucestershire County Council (“the 

Council”), as Commons Registration Authority, to register land known 

as the Glebe or the Leaze, West of Front Street and North of Church 

Street, Nympsfield, Stroud, (“the Application Land”) as a new town or 

village green (“TVG”) pursuant to section 15(2) of the Commons Act 

2006 (“the 2006 Act”).  

 

2. The Application to register the Application Land was received on 1 

April 2010, having been made by Dr Ian Crossland (“the Applicant”). 

Given that the Application was made pursuant to section 15(2) of the 

2006 Act the relevant period for the purposes of the Application is the 

20 year period immediately preceding the date of the Application, 

being 31 March 1990 to 1 April 2010 (“the Application Period”). The 

Application was publicly advertised in accordance with the procedure 

laid down by the 2006 Act on 26 May 2010.  

 

3.  The Application Land is owned by the Gloucester Diocesan Board of 

Finance (“the Objector”). An objection statement was received from the 

Objector on 5 July 2010. Consequently, the Application was the subject 

of a non-statutory public inquiry over which I presided beginning on 

Monday 10 November 2014 and concluding on Thursday 13 November 

2014, and which was held at Nympsfield Village Hall, Church Street, 

Nympsfield. 

 

4. At the Inquiry the Applicant represented himself with some assistance 

from another local resident, Mr Ian Blair. The Objector was represented 

by Mr William Webster of Counsel.  

 

 

 

 

Page 30



! $!

THE APPLICATION LAND 

 

5. The Application Land is a single field that is irregular in shape and 

extends to some 4.32 acres. The entirety of the southern boundary 

abuts Church Street and the western boundary largely abuts Front 

Street, save that for part of the length of that boundary where there is a 

property, Springland, which sits between the Application Land and 

Front Street. In the north the Application Land is adjacent to the 

gardens of residential properties and to the east the Application Land 

adjoins gardens in the northern part and allotments and the village hall 

car park in the southern part. The Application Land has a flat plateau 

across the northern section and it then slopes down towards Church 

Street in the southern section. 

 

6.  The Application Land is crossed by Public Footpath No 7 that has 

points of entry / egress in the south onto Church Street and in the 

north onto Front Street. It is enclosed by a mixture of stone walling, 

fencing and garden boundary fencing.  

 

THE APPLICATION TO REGISTER A TVG 

 

7. As noted in the foregoing, the application to register the Application 

Land as a new TVG was made pursuant to section 15(2) of the 2006 

Act, the substance of which is set out below: 

 

“15 Registration of greens 

(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register 

land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case where 

subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 

(2) This subsection applies where – 

Page 31



! %!

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 

 

8. In order for an applicant to succeed in an application to have land 

registered as a new TVG the Council must be satisfied that each and 

every part of the foregoing statutory test is met. 

 

THE STATUTORY TEST 

 

… a significant number … 

 

9. “Significant” does not mean that a considerable or substantial number 

of people must have made TVG type use of the land. It simply means 

that the number of people using the land in question in a qualifying 

manner has to have been sufficient to indicate to the landowner that 

the land has been in general use by the local community for informal 

recreation as distinct from occasional use by individuals as 

trespassers1.  

 

10. It is not necessary for the recreational users to come predominantly 

from the relevant locality or neighbourhood2. Nor is it necessary for 

there to be a spread of users coming from across the entirety of the 

claimed locality or neighbourhood. !"#$ %$ &'$ !"##$%&' ()*+,' -$.$/0#' 1'

2$345006' 70/3&8&5$/"9' :&;9%$5' <' =/>036 ? $()#$ *'&+,-.##./$ 012$ )'/$

-.3.45./2$)$4"'5.'5&"'$56)5$)'$&')/.7*)5.$#,-.)/$"8$*#.-#$56-"*96"*5$)$

4:)&+./$:"4):&51$("*:/$0.$8)5):$5"$)'$),,:&4)5&"'$8"-$-.9&#5-)5&"';$ 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin), para [77]. 
2 R (on the application of Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v 
Oxford County Council [2010] EWHC 530. 
3 [2011] EWHC 1606 (Ch), para [106(i)]. 

Page 32



! &!

 

11.  However, only recreational use by members of the public from the 

relevant locality or neighbourhood will contribute to the “significant 

number” test. In other words, use by people that do not come from 

within the claimed locality or neighbourhood does not support an 

application for registration of a new TVG and should be discounted to 

the extent that evidence of such use is adduced. The statutory test is 

clear that use must be by “a significant number of the inhabitants of 

any locality or of any neighbourhood within a locality”. Those 

components of the test must be read together. 

 

… of the inhabitants of any locality … 

 

12. A “locality” must be an area known to the law such as a borough, 

parish or manor4. It cannot be created by simply drawing a line on a 

map5.  

 

… or of any neighbourhood within a locality … 

 

13. A “neighbourhood” need not be a recognised administrative unit or an 

area that is known to the law (in other words it does not have to meet 

the same stringent criteria that applies to establishing a locality). A 

housing estate can be a neighbourhood 6 , as can a single road 7 . 

However, a neighbourhood cannot be just any area drawn on a map. It 

has generally been accepted that it must have some degree of 

cohesiveness8.  

 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
4 Ministry of Defence v Wiltshire County Council [1995] 4 All ER 931, 937. 
5 R (Cheltenham Builders Limited) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004] 1 EGLR 85, paras 
[41] – [48]. 
6 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin). 
7 R (on the application of Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) v 
Oxford County Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Warneford Meadow). 
8 R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin). 

Page 33



! '!

… have indulged as of right … 

 

14. User “as of right” means user that has been without force, without 

secrecy and without permission (traditionally referred to by lawyers as 

nec vi, nec clam, nec precario). The basis for the creation of rights through 

such user is that the landowner has acquiesced in the exercise of the 

right claimed (in the case of applications to register a new TVG the 

period of user required is twenty years)9 and the user can rely upon 

their long use to support a claim to the right enjoyed.  

 

15. The landowner cannot, of course, be regarded as having acquiesced in 

user unless that user would appear to the reasonable landowner to be 

an assertion of the right claimed10. User is, therefore, “as of right” if it 

would appear to the reasonable landowner to be the assertion of a legal 

right. If the user is by force, is secret, or is by permission of the 

landowner, (ie vi, clam, or precario) it will not have the appearance to 

the reasonable landowner of the assertion of a legal right to use the 

land. 

 

Force 

 

16.  Force is not limited to physical force. User is by force not only if it 

involves the breaking down of fences or gates but also if it is user that 

is contentious or persisted in under protest (including in the face of 

prohibitory signage) from the landowner 11 . However, ‘perpetual 

warfare’ between landowner and users is not necessary12 to prove 

contentiousness. 

 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
9 Dalton v Angus & Co (1881) 6 App Cas 740, 773. 
10 R (Lewis) v Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council [2009] 1 WLR 1461. 
11 Smith v Brudenell-Bruce [2002] 2 P & CR 4. 
12 Cheltenham Builders, see footnote 5 above, at para [71].  

Page 34



! (!

Stealth 

 

17. User that is secret or by stealth will not constitute user as of right 

because such use would not come to the attention of the landowner 

and he could not, therefore, be said to have acquiesced in such use. 

 

Permission 

 

18. Use that is permissive is ‘by right’ and is, therefore, not capable of 

being ‘as of right’, a point reinforced by the recent decision of the 

Supreme Court in R (on the application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire 

County Council and Another [2014] UKSC 31. In Barkas lengthy 

consideration was given to the earlier decision of the House of Lords in 

R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council [2004] 1 AC 889 that appeared to 

accept that possibility that even use that on the face of it might appear 

to be permissive was also capable of constituting use ‘as of right’. 

However, in light of the decision in Barkas that is clearly not correct. 

The question to be addressed regarding whether or not use was 

permissive needs to be looked at in the context of each case, 

particularly if the relevant land is held pursuant to statutory purposes, 

which is not the case in the present Application.  

 

19. Permission does not have to be overt. It can be inferred from the 

conduct of the landowner, R (Mann) v Somerset County Council13 . 

Whether or not permission can be inferred or implied will depend 

upon the particular facts of any individual case.  

 

 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
13 [2012] EWHC B14 (Admin). 

Page 35



! )!

Concurrent use by landowner 

 

20. In circumstances where there has been concurrent use by the 

landowner it is well established that use by the landowner alongside 

use by recreational users will not automatically prevent land 

qualifying for registration as a new TVG if the co-existing uses are not 

incompatible with each other14. It is accepted that low level agricultural 

use of application land is not necessarily inconsistent with use of the 

land for lawful sports and pastimes15 

 

… in lawful sports and pastimes …  

 

21. The term “lawful sports and pastimes” is a composite phrase that 

includes informal recreation such as walking, with or without dogs, 

and children playing16 and, indeed, any activity that can properly be 

called a sport of pastime. Lord Hoffmann in Sunningwell expressly 

agreed with what had been said in R (Steed) v Suffolk County Council 

(1995) 70 P & CR 487 about dog walking and playing with children 

being in modern life the kind of informal recreation which may be the 

main function of a village green. However, in Warneford Meadow the 

court interpreted the word lawful as meaning to exclude any activity 

that would constitute a criminal offence.  

 

…on the land … 

 

22. It is not necessary for the whole of the land to have been used for 

lawful sports and pastimes but only that the land has been used in the 

appropriate manner. There may be land, for example, that has a pond 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
14 R (Lewis) v Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council [2010] 2 AC 70. 
15 Oxfordshire, per Lord Hoffmann at para 57; Redcar, per Lord Walker at para 28. 
16 R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335, 356F-
357E. 

Page 36



! *!

on it or, as in Oxfordshire, that is not wholly accessible for recreational 

use. The fact that some of the application land might have been 

inaccessible for use for lawful sports and pastimes does not preclude 

registration. It is not necessary for a registration authority to be 

satisfied that every square foot of a piece of land the subject of an 

application has been used. 

 

… for a period of at least twenty years … 

 

23. In the case of an application under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act the 

relevant period is the twenty year period immediately preceding the 

application, the final day of the period being that upon which the 

application is made. In the present case the relevant application period, as 

noted above, is 31 March 1990 to 1 April 2010.  

 

 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 

24. The burden of proof that the Application Land meets the statutory 

criteria for registration as a new TVG lies firmly with the Applicant. It 

is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land registered as a TVG 

and all the elements required to establish a new green must be 

“properly and strictly proved”17. That means that if any part of the 

statutory test is not satisfied, an application must fail as a matter of 

law. The standard of proof is the usual civil standard of proof of the 

balance of probabilities. 

 

25. An application will not be defeated by drafting errors or defects in the 

application form18. It is the substance of an application, supported by 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
17 R v Suffolk County Council, ex parte Steed (1996) 75 P & CR 102, 111, per Pill LJ, approved by 
Lord Bingham in R (Beresford) v Sunderland City Council, para [2]. 
18 Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council & Another [2006] 2 AC 674.$

Page 37



! "+!

evidence, that dictates whether an application is successful or not. The 

issue for the Commons Registration Authority is whether or not the 

Application Land has become a new TVG by virtue of all the 

components of the statutory test being met. 

 

EVIDENCE FOR THE APPLICANT GIVEN ORALLY 

 

26. Having set out the law as it relates to the test for registration of a new 

TVG I now turn to consider the witness evidence produced on behalf 

of the Applicant. I will deal first with the witness evidence given orally 

to the public inquiry and which was subjected to cross examination by 

the Objector. I will summarise the evidence that I heard in the order in 

which the witnesses gave their evidence. However, what follows is not 

intended to be a verbatim account, or even necessarily a complete 

account, of the evidence given to the inquiry. It is simply a précis of 

some of the more salient issues dealt with in evidence, particularly 

those that form the basis of my findings of fact. The précis is simply 

intended to be a sufficient account of the evidence for the Council to 

understand the reasons and reasoning behind my conclusions. 

 

Ian Crossland 

 

27. Dr Crossland is the Applicant. He produced an evidence questionnaire 

(“EQ”) dated 10 February 2010 and a witness statement (“WS”) dated 

13 October 2014, which he produced jointly with his wife, Vivienne 

Crossland. He has lived in Nympsfield since 1979 and at his present 

address, The Old Rectory, Church Street, since 1982.  

 

28. In his written evidence Dr Crossland referred to his childrens’ use of 

the Application Land throughout the period between about 1979 and 

1995 and his granddaughter’s use of the same from the late 1990s. 

Page 38



! ""!

Whilst Dr Crossalnd referred to having only used the Application 

Land occasionally himself he gave evidence of the use other people 

made of it. Mrs Crossland, in her joint WS with Dr Crossland, said it 

has always been a common sight to see children playing on the Glebe. 

 

29. Dr Crossland’s evidence on use of the Application Land is that he has 

seen children playing and dog walking there between 1982 and 2010 

(the end of the Application Period), he has seen and participated in 

sledging when there has been snow between 1982 and 2010 and picked 

funghi on the Application Land between 1994 and 1995.  

 

30. In cross examination Dr Crossland confirmed his agreement that the 

Application Land had been the subject of an agricultural tenancy with 

Mr Donald Mills who used the land for grazing. Dr Crossland said he 

believed that Mr Mills is now resident in a care home and that he 

would not have been able to give oral evidence to the Inquiry because 

of his health. 

 

31. It was confirmed that following the end of Mr Mills’ tenancy a Mr 

Richard Smith (now deceased) grazed sheep on the Application Land 

between 2005 and 2007 and then from 2008 to the end of the 

Application Period the land was rented to a Mr Paul Romain who kept 

cob horses on the land. 

 

32. There then followed much discussion about Mr Mills who became a 

significant figure at the Inquiry, despite his absence from it. It was Dr 

Crossland’s evidence that Mr Mills had been born and bred in 

Nympsfield. He was easy going, friendly, well known and as well as 

his farming activities he sold bread to the villagers. 

 

33. Mr Mills lived in a farm house just up the street from the Application 

Land and he had originally been a dairy farmer but in later years he 

Page 39



! "#!

just ran cattle, deciding finally to call it a day in 2005 when he 

surrendered his tenancy of the Application Land. Dr Crossland agreed 

that Mr Mills was an experienced farmer. He also accepted that from 

Mr Mills’ bedroom window he would have been able to see the 

Application Land. 

 

34. It was put to Dr Crossland in cross examination that during the course 

of his tenancy of the Application Land there was no evidence in any of 

the paperwork retained by the Objector that he had ever mentioned 

that people were trespassing on the Application Land or annoying the 

livestock. It was put to Dr Crossland that it would be very odd if 

people were recreating in the field and that no conflict had arisen. Dr 

Crossland said that if Mr Mills had thought there was a problem he 

would not have gone to the board to complain and he thought he 

would have dealt with it himself. 

 

35. Two possible conclusions that could be drawn from the lack of 

complaint by Mr Mills were put to Dr Crossland. First it was suggested 

that it may be because there were not people on the Application Land 

in any number or certainly not in a way that Mr Mills knew about it. 

Or second, that Mr Mills was aware of the use being made of the 

Application Land but was relaxed about it. Dr Crossland said it would 

have been the second. He said that Mr Mills had grown up in the 

village and as a lad and he had done it himself. 

 

36. Dr Crossland was then taken to a number of documents in the 

Objector’s bundle that recorded details of a telephone conversation 

with Mr Mills together with a draft statutory declaration that was 

subsequently prepared, that had been annotated by one of the 

Objector’s witnesses, Joe Hiram, following a meeting with Mr Mills, an 

updated version of which Mr Mills never in fact signed due to his 

deteriorating health.  

Page 40



! "$!

 

37. There then followed a discussion about the content of the notes that are 

said to have recorded the information given by Mr Mills to agents for 

the landowner in respect of use of the Application Land. It was put to 

Dr Crossland that those notes painted a picture that was quite different 

from what he was saying Mr Mills knew. Dr Crossland said that what 

was recorded in the notes was not the truth and he made reference to 

Mr Mills’ deteriorating health as perhaps being an explanation for any 

inaccuracy. 

 

38. It was suggested to Dr Crossland, after he had talked about the use 

children had made of the Application land for sports such as cricket 

and football (albeit, he accepted, some of that was outside the 

Application Period) that any such use of the Application Land was an 

occasional impromptu knock about but not every evening. He replied 

that for 3 or 4 years it went on very regularly at the top end of the land 

where it was flat, especially in the summer holidays, although he 

accepted that particular reference was to activity outside the 

Application Period, but he went on to refer to Mr Mills’ recorded 

comment in the annotations to his draft statutory declaration that 

“cattle got used to people playing in [the Application Land]”. It was put to 

Dr Crossland that Mr Mills did not welcome people trespassing on the 

Application Land to which Dr Crossland replied that whether he 

welcomed them or not, he did nothing about it. 

 

39. In the context of dog walkers it was put to Dr Crossland that Mr Mills 

had made it plain to dog walkers that they were not to stray off the 

public footpath. However, Dr Crossland said that it had not been 

possible to find a single person who said they had been spoken to or 

remonstrated with by Mr Mills. 

 

Page 41



! "%!

40. Discussion then turned to Mr Romain’s tenure of the Application 

Land. Dr Crossland said he did not know him personally but knew 

that either he or his partner, Karen Bray, would visit the land every 

day, either very early or very late.  

 

41. Attention then turned to a series of aerial photographs of varying 

quality taken in 1999, 2005, 2006, 2008 and 2013 (the latter being 

outside the Application Period). Dr Crossland made various references 

to the quality of the photographs and the limitations of relying upon 

such evidence. He accepted, however, that the 1999 photograph 

appeared to show bales of hay indicating that a crop had been taken 

that year.  He also accepted that the line of the public footpath was 

visible.  

 

42. There followed discussion about the later photographs and it was 

noted that on the 2005 photograph there appeared to be a further worn 

track around part of the western boundary. By 2006 it was noted that 

went from the western boundary to a telegraph pole in the centre of 

the field in a poker straight line. Dr Crossland said it was a track that 

had been created by Andrew Ball as it is his dog walking route. 

 

43. In relation to the apparent mowing of the Application Land in 2008 as 

appeared to be the case on the 2008 photograph it was Dr Crossland’s 

evidence that he thought it had been topped rather than mown for hay. 

He also said that generally speaking the hay tended to be poor with 

grass growing to about 18 inches in height. When asked if locals 

tended to respect the hay growing Dr Crossland said not. He said 

people tended to wander anywhere. The hay was not very thick. 

 

44. Dr Crossland was then taken to various other photographs that had 

been taken in 2008 and 2010. Of particular interest was the gate from 

Haverhill into the Application Land which was put in in 2010. 

Page 42



! "&!

However, according to Dr Crossland’s evidence, prior to that Haverhill 

had had a gap in the hedge and a stile providing access to the 

Application Land since 1992. He also referred to an entrance from 1 

Yew Tree Cottage that had been created in 2006 and another from 2 

The Hay that had, in recent weeks, been nailed shut with 6 inch nails. 

Further, he said there had been a track coming out of Springlands since 

the 1970s. 

 

45. In respect of the access to the allotments to and from the Application 

Land it was Dr Crossland’s evidence that the entrance had been there 

for as long as anyone can remember. There had been a horizontal bar 

that was, in fact, a ladder that had been put across to stop cattle 

straying into the allotments. People would, he said, simply duck under 

the ladder. He had also said earlier in his evidence that people tending 

their allotments would nip onto the Application Land to exercise their 

dogs.  

 

46. It was then put to Dr Crossland that the Application Land was located 

on the periphery of the village, a contention with which Dr Crossland 

strongly disagreed saying that it was right at the centre of the village. It 

was suggested that the formal recreation ground, the King George V 

Playing Field (“the PF”) was the more likely venue for children to 

recreate and that that is where the concentration of homes is. Dr 

Crossland rejected that suggestion saying that it is in fact the PF that is 

on the periphery of the village and that the route to access the PF is 

inhospitable as it means going along a single track road. 

 

47. In re-examination by Mr Blair, Dr Crossland was asked how much 

evidence of footfall he would expect to see on aerial photographs 

where people have wandered at will. He replied by referring to aerial 

photograph evidence that had been submitted at other inquiries such 

Page 43



! "'!

as Sunningwell and Frampton and said that there was no evidence on 

those of footpaths.  

 

48. In his written evidence Dr Crossland said that all the activities he 

referred to as having taken place on the Application Land had been 

performed openly. He said that no-one had ever given permission for 

the activities or sought to prevent them from taking place. 

 

John Price 

 

49. Mr Price produced and EQ on behalf of himself and his wife, Carole 

Gilbert-Porter, dated 27 February 2010 and a WS dated 16 August 2014. 

He has lived in Nympsfield since 26 June 1992, residing at Four Wells 

Cottage until 20 September 2009, and thereafter at White Hart Court. 

Four Wells Cottage is situated across the road from the south eastern 

corner of the Application Land with a garage on a separate parcel of 

land opposite the house and directly abutting the Application Land. 

White Hart Court is situated just north of the northern boundary of the 

Application Land on Front Street. 

 

50. It was Mr Price’s written evidence that throughout the period he has 

known the Application Land the land was often used by villagers for 

recreational purposes. He said that it was a common occurrence to see 

children playing there and even when he couldn’t see them, he could 

hear them from his home. He was unable to name all of the children he 

recognised as being from the village that he said played there but said 

that they included Todd and Pat Cook’s grandchildren who played 

there alot, the Cooks living at Springland which abuts the Application 

Land. Mr Price said they would play on the Application Land when 

there were cattle on the land and that not only would he have gone 

onto the land when there was a farmer there, he said he had done so. 

 

Page 44



! "(!

51. He said that in the winter when there was snow the bank from the top 

of the Application Land became a sledging run for children and adults 

and in the spring and summer children often played there. From 1997 

his step granddaughter Sasha who came to live with them for 14 

months and would then visit them every day after school in the village 

once she and her mother had moved out would go to the Application 

Land in the summer afternoons and evenings to roam around, looking 

for wild flowers and insects and to spend time with the horses when 

they were grazing on the land. She would do this both alone and with 

her friends. Access was gained usually through the gate on Church 

Street but sometimes over the wall. 

 

52. In his EQ Mr Price said that he had seen and participated in children 

playing, dog walking and walking continuously throughout the time 

he had known the land, he had seen people picking blackberries every 

year, he had seen and participated in kite flying at Christmas 2001 and 

had seen people sledging between December 2009 and February 2010. 

It transpired that his own use of the land for walking was confined to 

the 6 years that his granddaughter had lived with them or had been 

visiting daily from 1997. He told the Inquiry that he did not personally 

take Sasha there every day but that she would go with his wife, her 

friends and sometimes on her own. 

 

53. Mr Price agreed that hay had been grown on the Application Land. He 

said the grass was cut occasionally but he was unable to say from 

memory if that was every year. He said that he recalled Mr Mills 

cutting and baling hay but it was not every year and not more than 

once a year when he did. Mr Price said that the cutting and baling of 

the hay had no effect on people’s use of the land as it was only one 

day’s job and the kids were kept out of the way. When there were 

livestock on the filed Mr Price said that people would keep dogs on a 

lead. 

Page 45



! ")!

 

54. Mr Price said that he knew Mr Mills slightly. He had bought bread 

from him but would not describe him as a friend. He said that Mr Mills 

had kept animals on the land but did not always have some on there. 

He had seen Mr Mills on the land mowing it and only kept away 

because of the use of machinery and that was only for a day. Mr Price 

said the Application Land was poorly fenced and that he had 

experienced putting sheep back in the field when Dick Smith was 

grazing his livestock there. He did not know Paul Romain and had 

never seen anyone there tending the horses. Nor did he recall the 

Application Land having been cut since there were horses on the land. 

 

55. Mr Price was asked how many people would be on the land. He said 

that it depended upon the time of year, the weather and whether it was 

the school holidays. On occasions he said he had seen up to maybe 10 

or 15 people, on some days it may be just 2 and some days none. When 

the alleged lack of evidence of footfall was put to Mr Price he said he 

had just seen someone walking a dog towards the allotments and there 

may be no evidence of it now but they were there. 

 

56. When asked about the location of the Application Land Mr Price 

denied that it is on the periphery of the village and said it was in the 

centre of it. He also rejected the suggestion that the largest 

concentration of housing was near to the PF.  

 

57. In his written evidence Mr Price said that all the activities he saw were 

without concealment or secrecy. As far as he is aware no-one ever gave 

permission for the Application Land to be used in the way he had used 

it or observed it being used and no-one had ever challenged that use. 

 

 

 

Page 46



! "*!

Brian Pittaway 

 

58. Mr Pittaway produced an EQ jointly with his wife, Carol, dated 1 

February 2010 and a WS dated 16 October 2014. Mr Pittaway lives at 

Cotwswold House, Front Street, and he has rear garden land that abuts 

the Application Land. He has lived there since June 1986 and has two 

children that have grown up there, born in 1986 and 1988. Mr 

Pittaway’s WS is 10 pages long as he has included a number of 

photographs of activities on the Application Land. He also exhibited 

correspondence concerned with him gaining access to his garden land 

from the Application Land. 

 

59. In his written evidence Mr Pittaway says that he and his family have 

seen and participated in children playing, picking blackberries and 

sledging (when there is snow) from 1986 to the date of the Application. 

He also says he has seen and participated in kite flying in the late 1980s 

and has seen dog walking and people walking without dogs from 1986 

to present and bicycle riding in the early 1990s. Mr Pittaway said that 

he had played there with his children from the early 1990s and would 

do so at weekends when the weather permitted. He said that from 

about 1996 his children, Stephen and Clare (who had produced their 

own WSs) had played on the Application Land with friends. 

 

60.  In his photographs Mr Pittaway, amongst other things, identifies the 

location of the areas where blackberries grow, noting that they are well 

away from the public footpath. He also produced photographs from 

2007 showing a considerable number of tracks in the snow well away 

from the public footpath and again in January 2010 evidencing tracks 

both along the public footpath and well away from it together with a 

group of around 7 children sledging and a separate group of 3 

apparently younger children doing the same and surrounded by a 

substantial number of tracks where people had walked, well away 

Page 47



! #+!

from the public footpath. Mr Pittaway said that in 2010 he and his 

family went on the Application Land to sledge and there were at least 

20 villagers there. 

 

61.  When giving evidence of the use he had witnessed people making of 

the Application Land Mr Pittaway said that he spent a considerable 

amount of time in his garden from where he has a good view of the 

Application Land, he often saw and heard children playing and people 

walking dogs by his boundary fence which is well away from the 

public footpath and he was able to name a number of dog walkers such 

as Tony and Joan Pearce, Sue Griffin, Sally and Malcolm Green and 

John Fullard. It was Mr Pittaway’s evidence that he had seen people 

walking their dogs well away from the public footpath, as depicted in 

his photograph 10 taken in 2013 (outside the Application Period but 

referred to as an illustration), all the time that he has lived there. 

 

62. In cross examination Mr Pittaway was asked to be more specific about 

the amount of use he witnessed. He said in respect of children playing 

that it depends upon the time of year, school holidays and the weather. 

Some weekends he said he would see 5 – 10 children out there and 

some weekends he would see none. If there was hay on the land they 

might be playing hide and seek. He said some children would groom 

the horses and some were just chasing around and they could be heard 

playing. 

 

63. In relation to the fencing of the Application Land it was Mr Pittaway’s 

evidence that over the years he had often had livestock on his land due 

to the poor quality of the fencing. He specifically referred to having 

had sheep in his garden in 2007 and 2008 and in 2012 horses broke into 

his garden and caused considerable damage. This led to something of a 

stand off between Mr Pittaway and Mr Romain, Mr Pittaway taking 

the view that Mr Romain was rude and unpleasant as a result of the 

Page 48



! #"!

way that he responded to the fact of his large horses getting onto Mr 

Pittaway’s garden and causing damage. 

 

64. It was put to Mr Pittaway that Mr Romain was not the kind of man 

that would tolerate trespass in the field he rented to keep his horses in. 

Mr Pittaway said that Mr Romain was not really a presence on the land 

unless there was a problem.  

 

65. When asked about hay being grown on the Application Land Mr 

Pittaway said he never considered it to be a hay field, just long grass. 

He said a hay crop did not get taken very often and he did not recall it 

being every year. As for the impact that was caused by cutting and 

baling Mr Pittaway said the cutting took around 2 – 3 hours and the 

baling about the same amount of time a few days later. That, he said, 

never happened more than once in a year. 

 

66. Mr Pittaway was taken to the Objector’s aerial photographs and it was 

suggested to him that one could not identify evidence of wear and tear 

other than on the public footpath and some at the margins of the field. 

Mr Pittaway said that if people are walking their dog they won’t 

necessarily all walk on exactly the same route. He said that everyone 

has a different route and that people are not consistent with each other. 

Further, he said that if one has a field full of cows there are not worn 

tracks because they walk randomly. He said the same is true of people 

walking around the field and therefore there is no evidence visible. 

 

67. Mr Pittaway said that he knew Mr Mills to speak to as a fellow villager. 

He said they would exchange pleasantries. He agreed that Mr Mills 

was a decent man as far as he knew. Mr Mills never mentioned 

activities being carried out on the Application Land to Mr Pittaway. 

When asked if he thought the Application Land was used by sufficient 

numbers of people for Paul Romain and Mr Mills to have known about 

Page 49



! ##!

it Mr Pittaway responded that he could not speak for Paul Romain but 

that he would be very surprised if Mr Mills did not know and it was 

his view that Mr Mills was aware of who was using the Application 

Land. 

 

68. In cross examination it was put to Mr Pittaway that his use of the 

Application Land after 2009 did not count because he sought 

permission to go onto the Application Land. Mr Pittaway had 

exhibited the relevant correspondence to his WS and he confirmed in 

his oral evidence that he had sought vehicular access for a tractor to cut 

his hedge and the occasional vehicular access to get to his land from 

time to time. 

 

69. In his written evidence Mr Pittaway said that all activities were 

performed on the Application Land openly, that no-one had ever given 

him permission or tried to prevent him. 

 

Paul Mack 

 

70. Mr Mack produced an EQ jointly with his wife, Bettina, dated 5 March 

2010, a statutory declaration dated 29 August 2012 and a WS dated 12 

August 2014. He has lived at Bell Court, opposite the south eastern 

corner of the Application Land, with his family since March 1965.  

 

71. In his written evidence Mr Mack said that he had seen and participated 

in children playing, dog walking, walking and sledging (when 

sufficient snow) between 1965 and the date of the EQ. He also said that 

his wife had drawn and painted on the land from 1985 to the present, 

he had taken photographs on the land from about 1980 to present and 

he bird watched between approximately 1990 and the present but he 

did so from his own property looking onto the land. He referred also to 

kite flying (3 or 4 times a year from 1990 to about 5 or 6 years ago) and 

Page 50



! #$!

bicycling during a period beginning in around 1970 but when it ended 

he could not remember. He exhibited to his WS a photograph taken in 

February 2007 showing a group of youngsters (around 9 or so) with 

sledges and apparently playing in the snow. 

 

72. In cross examination Mr Mack said that he did not have a particular 

preferred walking route in the field and that it was quite random. He 

said that he would go there when there was livestock but just keep his 

dog on the lead. 

 

73. Of other people’s use of the Application Land Mr Mack said he had 

seen many other people use the field too. He named some in his WS as 

the Cooks, Beestons, Gazzards, Freemans and many more. He said he 

had seen many children playing there, both his and others throughout 

the time he has lived in Nympsfield right up to the present day. He 

said that whilst he cannot see the Application Land from his own 

house when he is out it is very common to see children there. He has 

not seen formal sports being played but usually just a bunch of 

children running around and sometimes with a bicycle or sledge. Mr 

Mack said they go everywhere.  

 

74. Mr Mack did recall hay being grown on the Application Land. He said 

he never felt constrained by the hay. It was not a heavy crop. He said 

he was used to being able to walk through hay fields but being careful. 

He was asked about the meaning of “ESA” to which he replied it 

meant that an area was an Environmentally Sensitive Area. That meant 

no using fertilizer and he said Mr Mills was late with the cutting of hay 

for that reason. 

 

75. Mr Mack knew Mr Mills for nearly 50 years and he said he liked him 

very much. He described him as an old fashioned farmer and said he 

was quite relaxed about his farming and he was relaxed about what 

Page 51



! #%!

was happening on his land. Whilst he was an experienced farmer he 

was so, according to Mr Mack, within his own limitations. He said Mr 

Mills was not one to get upset by things. For many years he made 

money up by selling bread as a sideline. 

 

76. In terms of the frequency with which Mr Mills had cattle on the 

Application Land he said he thought it was more often than not but he 

said he recalled it was a small herd, maybe around 10 cattle. Upon 

being pressed Mr Mack said he thought there were around 6 – 10 head 

of cattle but he was really guessing at this. When asked if he ever came 

across Mr Mills on the land Mr Mack said that he had because he had 

helped to get cattle back in that had escaped on about three occasions. 

Mr Mack had his dog with him and had not been on the footpath but 

Mr Mills did not tell him off. Mr Mack was asked if he recalled a sign 

on the gate saying keep dog on a lead and he said he did not recall one 

during the period that the Inquiry is interested in. Mr Mack, in cross 

examination, refused to be drawn on the notes on the Objector’s file 

apparently recording conversations with Mr Mills because he said it 

was not something in respect of which he was able to give evidence. 

 

77. Mr Mack was taken to evidence of a conversation with Paul Romain 

and it was put to him that Mr Romain did not have a problem with 

trespassers. Mr Mack’s response was that just because he said he did 

not have such a problem does not mean that there are no trespassers, 

just that he did not have a problem with trespassers. Mr Mack said that 

Nympsfield is a rural community and people know how to enter a 

field with livestock in it.  

 

78. Mr Mack said he had met Mr Romain a couple of times but not when 

he was on the Application Land. He said he met him on the road at the 

bottom gate. He said that he was civil. 

 

Page 52



! #&!

79. Mr Mack was asked whether he perceived the Application Land to be 

on the edge of the village or in the middle and he was directly referred 

to the fact of the housing development at Tinkley Lane. Mr Mack said 

that when he first moved to the village there was a signpost that 

pointed towards the area around the Application Land that said 

“Nympsfield ¼ mile”. He said that was traditionally the middle of the 

village, where the church is. The Inquiry’s attention was then drawn to 

an aerial photograph from 1994 that was hung on the wall of the 

Inquiry venue that illustrated the point. A copy was later provided. 

 

80. In his written evidence Mr Mack said that all the activities he described 

had been undertaken openly, that they had not had permission nor 

ever been challenged. 

 

Ann Overton 

 

81. Mrs Overton produced an EQ dated 11 February 2010, a statutory 

declaration dated 26 June 2012 and a WS dated 2 October 2014. She has 

lived at The Coach House on Church Street, almost directly opposite 

the public footpath entrance to the Application Land, since December 

1983. 

 

82. In her written evidence Mrs Overton said that she used the land daily 

(when it was not raining) throughout her time in Nympsfield for dog 

walking when her dogs were alive (her last dog died about 5 or 6 years 

ago) and she has seen people dog walking daily throughout the 

Application Period. Her route would usually involve entering the land 

through the public footpath entrance opposite her house, turning to the 

right and following the perimeter of the field all the way round or vice 

versa (ie turning left).  

 

Page 53



! #'!

83. She has also seen children playing there daily as well as people just 

walking without dogs. She said people used the whole of the land and 

she could see them from her windows. Further, Mrs Overton said in 

her evidence that she has seen people annually picking blackberries 

and has, herself, collected blackberries (by the boundary with 

Cotswold House) and nuts (by Haverhill) on the Application Land. She 

has also collected leaves for church decorations and occasionally 

visited a commemorative oak tree planted in 1985 in the south eastern 

corner of the Application Land, south of the allotments. Mrs Overton 

also says in her EQ that she saw painting and drawing taking place on 

the Application Land between about 1998 and 2000 and she referred to 

an art group that might sit there all day. She had seen that on the 

Application Land 3 or 4 times. She has seen and participated in 

sledging and has seen cycling. When challenged about the possibility 

of getting a bicycle through the entrance opposite her house Mrs 

Overton accepted the gap was narrow but said that some of the 

children do get bicycles through with a struggle.  

 

84. Mrs Overton has two grandchildren born in 1988 and 1990 and it was 

her evidence that when they come to visit they all go into the 

Application Land to play or visit the animals, even in 2010. 

 

85. Mrs Overton gave evidence regarding the pattern of Paul Romain and 

Karen Brady’s visits to tend their horses. She said they tended to visit 

either very early in the morning, at around 5 – 5.30 am or very late in 

the evening at between 10 – 10.30 am. Whilst Mrs Overton accepted 

that she was not necessarily up at that time of the morning she said she 

heard and recognised their vehicle, which was parked up opposite her 

house. She said that they would attend for 15 – 20 minutes per day and 

would check the horses legs and pick out their feet. 

 

Page 54



! #(!

86. Mrs Overton said that she knew Mr Mills. When asked if he was a 

friend or acquaintance she said he was more than an acquaintance but 

that he was a private person. She confirmed that he delivered bread. 

She also said she thought he was aware of the activities being carried 

out on the Application Land by local people. He had seen her playing 

in the mud with her grandchildren. 

 

87. In her written evidence Mrs Overton said that all her activities had 

been conducted openly, that no permission had been given and no-one 

had sought to prevent or stop such use. 

 

Jane Newman 

 

88. Mrs Newman produced an EQ dated 10 February 2010 and a WS dated 

28 September 2014. She has lived with her family at Avalon on Church 

Street since 1986. Whilst her garden does not directly abut the 

Application Land her property is in very close proximity to it. 

 

89. It was Mrs Newman’s evidence that since moving to Nympsfield she 

and her family have used the Application Land to walk the dog (3 – 4 

times per week) and for childrens’ play (her own son having used the 

land for that purpose throughout the period 1988 – 1998). The latter, 

when combined with the dog walking, occurred around 4 – 5 times per 

week during the fairer months (April to September) and less frequently 

in the winter months. Her son’s use of the Application Land without 

parental supervision began when he was around 6 or 7 years old (born 

1986). 

 

90. In respect of dog walking Mrs Newman said in her oral evidence that 

she tended to take a frisbee for the dog and that she would walk 

randomly all over the land. 

 

Page 55



! #)!

91. In addition to the activities described above Mrs Newman said that she 

had seen drawing and painting (on numerous occasions she saw artists 

groups painting), dog walking, children playing, people walking, team 

games, kite flying (small children a few years ago) and bicycle riding 

(great fun riding down hill), picnicking, and sledging take place on the 

land, and had participated in all but drawing and painting, kite flying 

and bicycle riding.  

 

92. When Mrs Newman was asked to elaborate upon team games she 

referred to children playing tag, which in response to a question in 

cross examination she said she had last seen taking place during that 

summer when she was at her allotment. It was put to her that such 

activity would not have taken place when there were animals on the 

field and she said that such use did occur when there were horses and 

even cattle as they were very passive. 

 

93. Mrs Newman has an allotment and she and her family typically gain 

access to it through a gap in the wall that has a single bar across which 

they would ‘duck under’. Occasionally, however, they would enter 

from the entrance from Church Lane. When referring to the ladder 

across the gap into the allotment Mrs Newman said that the allotment 

owners had put it there to keep the livestock out, not the landowners 

to keep the people out.  

 

94. Mrs Newman was asked if Paul Romain had done much in the way of 

fencing. She said she had never seen him so did not know. She said she 

had spent many weeks, days, hours at the allotment and had never 

once seen Mr Romain 

 

95. It was suggested to her that Mr Mills did fence the land properly to 

which she replied that because of the overgrown state of the boundary 

to the allotments at that time it acted as an effective barrier at the time 

Page 56



! #*!

she took her allotment on. In fact, as a member of the village hall 

committee there had been correspondence to the Diocese to ask if it 

would be possible to use certain stone to tidy up the boundary but no 

reply was received.  

 

96. Mrs Newman was asked if she knew Mr Mills and she said that she 

did. She lived opposite him. She described him as quiet and 

unassuming, a decent chap, a country chap. She couldn’t comment on 

whether he was an experienced farmer. She said he was experienced at 

looking after his animals but it was more of a smallholding than a 

farm. 

 

97. The notes recorded in conversations with Mr Mills by Mr Hiram and, 

previously, a Mr Edmonds were brought to Mrs Newman’s attention. 

It was put to Mrs Newman that the picture those notes painted was 

radically different to the picture painted by the Applicant’s witnesses 

in relation to the use of the land. Mrs Newman said that she had 

known Mr Mills since she had moved in to the village and that he had 

been ill for some time before his illness became publicly known. She 

said that even between June 2010 and October 2010 there was a visible 

difference to her in the way he was communicating. She disagreed 

with the substance of what the documents purported to record he had 

said. She said that she saw Mr Mills 3 or 4 days a week and she said 

that conversations with him had deteriorated and became more 

difficult. 

 

98. In her written evidence Mrs Newman said that all activities had been 

carried out openly, no permission had been given and no-one had tried 

to stop them. 

 

 

 

Page 57



! $+!

Imogen Gazzard 

 

99. Imogen Gazzard produced a WS dated 13 October 2014 and she was 12 

at the time of doing so. Her parents, Lisa and Jonathan had produced 

an EQ that had referred to Imogen’s use dated 2 March 2010. Imogen 

lives at Bay Tree Farm, about 20 metres from the Application Land, 

and has done so all of her life.  

 

100. It was her evidence that she has played on the Application Land 

for as long as she can remember (from about the age of 6), both with 

her parents and with her friends (from age 6 onwards) for whom the 

land is the central meeting point as it is so close to all of their homes. 

Her evidence described their use as being the playing of hide and seek 

(around the trees on the edge of the land), climbing trees, making dens 

for hours (on the big tree at the bottom of the land near the gate) and 

picking blackberries. She also said she would take her dog Jessie for 

frequent walks there in the morning and after school. She has also had 

picnics, played ball games and flown kites with members of her family 

there. 

 

101. During the time that there were horses on the Application Land 

Imogen and her friends, Ella, Lucy, Megan, Honey, Tilly and Liberty, 

all from the village, would often go there and groom their tails and 

manes and plait their manes. They made names up for the horses. 

 

102. When there has been snow in the field Imogen said they all met 

in the field daily to sledge, make snow men and igloos and have snow 

ball fights. 

 

103. Imogen was asked if she would go to the land when there were 

sheep in the field to which she replied no but she did go there when 

Page 58



! $"!

there were cows and horses. She did not recall the sheep. She said she 

did not use any particular route or part of the land. She just wandered. 

 

104. She was asked if she recalled hay being grown in the field. She 

said not really. She said grass being long did not affect her use.  

 

105. When asked about the use she saw other people making of the 

Application Land and particularly whether people tended to stick to 

the footpath she said that whilst she had seen some people use the 

footpath most people just wandered. 

 

106. In her written evidence Imogen said that she has never been 

stopped or questioned about using the field and she and her friends 

have always played there openly. 

 

Joe Robertson 

 

107. Joe made a WS dated 13 October 2014 and his parents, Ann and 

John Robertson, had produced an EQ that also referred to his use dated 

30 March 2010. At the time of producing his WS Joe was 14 years old 

(born 1999). He lives at 1 Yew Tree Cottages which backs onto the 

Application Land and he has lived there all of his life, his family 

having moved there in June 1998. Joe is one of twins and has two other 

brothers, one two years older and another nearly four years older. 

 

108. It was Joe’s evidence that from when he was quite small until 

the end of the Application Period he played with his brothers on the 

Application Land after school and at weekends, especially in the 

summer. They played football, hide and seek and frisbee. They would 

play the same games in the winter but went there less often unless 

there was snow. When it snowed they would go sledging, making 

snowmen and having snowball fights. He said there would be lots of 

Page 59



! $#!

other people from the village there. It was mainly his brothers that he 

would play with but he mentioned a friend from the village called 

Harvey that would sometimes join them. 

 

109. He also said that the girls next door and all their friends played 

on the Application Land, including Imogen who had just given 

evidence before him. 

 

110. Joe recalled hay having been grown on the land. He said he 

thought it was grown most summers but not so much recently. He said 

that when there was hay it made their games of hide and seek more 

plausible. He did recall cutting and bale making machinery sometimes 

at which times he did not play on the land.  

 

111. In relation to livestock Joe said he remembered horses and 

sheep but not cattle. He never saw the people who kept horses there. 

Nor did he recall ever having met Mr Smith who kept sheep on the 

Application Land. 

 

112. Whilst they would originally access the Application Land 

through the entrance by the church, in 2006 his father constructed a 

stile at the bottom of the garden to make access easier. It was Joe’s 

evidence that it was common to see people on the Application Land, 

walking their dogs or other children playing, like the Derrick girls. 

 

113. In his written evidence Joe said that they had always played 

there openly. No-one ever gave them permission or tried to stop them 

from going there. 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



! $$!

John Fullard 

 

114. Mr Fullard produced a statutory declaration dated 6 October 

2014. He and his wife, Bridget, have lived at Brooks Cottage, The 

Barrow, Nympsfield, since September 2001. 

 

115. Mr Fullard said that he had used the Application Land 

principally for dog walking, the first dog he acquired having been in 

2003. He said he and his wife regularly walked the whole of the 

Application Land, socialising with other people including the previous 

owners of Haverhill, Janice and Nigel who have since left the village, 

whose dog used to come out of the garden to greet Mr Fullard’s dog. 

He also said he met the Gazzard family, Ann Overton and Todd Cook 

with his working dogs. He said he used the land all year round, about 

3 or 4 times per week, often twice a day, early morning and evening. 

 

116. As well as the people named above Mr Fullard said they often 

saw others using the land for dog walking, children playing, 

mushroom picking and, in winter, sledging and other snow activities. 

He said he would gain access to the field through the open stile at the 

bottom, the kissing gate at the top or from the allotment gardens, the 

means of access variously being completely unobstructed, crossed by a 

single strand of wire or by a ladder. Mr Fullard confirmed that he has 

an allotment. He described the fencing around the Application Land as 

‘hit and miss’. 

 

117. Regarding the growing of hay Mr Fullard said he was aware of 

hay having been grown fairly regularly but not every year although at 

first he saw grass and had not realised it was a crop. He would not go 

into the field when hay was being cut and he would endeavour to stick 

to the sides of the land when it was drying. However, when it was 

growing it was Mr Fullard’s evidence that he would simply follow his 

Page 61



! $%!

dog wherever he took him irrespective of the grass length. He said that 

he works with gardens and grass recovers and everyone else was using 

the land and it never suffered any harm. 

 

118. He also agreed that there were cattle on the land after he began 

walking his dog there but said when they were he tended to avoid it 

because he is frightened of cows and horses. However, he said there 

were lengthy periods when the land was not stocked, it being erratic 

and intermittent, and he said it was not stocked for more than a few 

months a year. 

 

119. Mr Fullard knew Mr Mills. He described him as a private 

person but said he probably knew him as well as many. He agreed that 

he was a decent man. Mr Fullard said Mr Mills knew his wife for 

longer. He delivered bread to them and he would have a chat. He said 

he was quite familiar and open with him. When he retired Mr and Mrs 

Fullard helped Mr Mills to move his cattle out of the field. He 

continued to deliver bread but according to Mr Fullard that did not 

continue for very long because Mr Mills became very ill. He knows he 

is now in a nursing home and when asked if he knew about Mr Mills’ 

mental health he said he knew his father had had early onset dementia 

and he had the same. 

 

120. When asked if Mr Mills knew people were using the 

Application Land he said he was sure he did. He was asked if Mr Mills 

had seen him on the land and Mr Fullard said he had been in the field 

with his dog when Mr Mills had been there turning hay. 

 

121. In his written evidence Mr Fullard said that the activities had 

been conducted openly and without any attempt at concealment. They 

were never challenged by anyone and no-one ever gave them 

permission. 

Page 62



! $&!

 

Judy Whitman 

 

122. Mrs Whitman produced an EQ dated 23 February 2010, a 

statutory declaration jointly with her husband, Geoff, dated 23 July 

2012 and an undated but signed WS. She has lived at Buckle End 

Cottage since December 1960. The house is 12 yards from the top gate 

into the Application Land at the northern end of the public footpath. 

The Application Land can only be viewed from the property from the 

garden or outside the door. 

 

123. Mr and Mrs Whitman have three children born in 1958, 1961 

and 1971 respectively who have all played on the Application Land, 

albeit outside the Application Period. Since 1985, however, their 

grandchildren have regularly played on the Application Land 

whenever they went to stay. She has taken picnics there with both her 

children and grandchildren. Her husband used to fly kites there with 

their son. 

 

124. In the past Mrs Whitman has had her own dogs (about 1970 – 

1980) but not any longer. However, since 2002 Mrs Whitman has 

looked after her daughter’s dog one day per week (12 years old at the 

time of the Inquiry) and uses the Application Land to exercise it twice 

a day. The dog is very ‘sniffy’ and she can be out there for a long time. 

She said she walks all over the field except when the grass is very long 

and it is wet when she sticks to the outside to save getting wet. She 

sees other dog walkers out there including Paul Harrison, Lisa 

Gazzard, Jackie Derrick and Paul and Ann Fisher. 

 

125. Mrs Whitman has regularly picked blackberries in the field and 

has seen others doing the same, including Catherine Harrison. She did 

once see an artist set up away from the footpath in the top corner of the 

Page 63



! $'!

land but cannot remember the year. She has accompanied her husband 

Geoff to the field to bird watch, something that he did more frequently 

than she did. When it has snowed she has seen the whole field covered 

with people sledging and she recalled seeing Honey and Tilly McLean 

and Imogen Gazzard there building a snow den. 

 

126. Mrs Whitman did recall cattle being on the land and hay 

growing. She said that when the grass was being cut she would not go 

into the field but when it had been cut she would either go around the 

edge or through the rows but she said she would not disturb the hay. 

She said Mr Mills had grown hay and he tended to cut in around July. 

The strength of the growth depended on the weather but she said the 

grass tended to be very weedy. Mrs Whitman was asked if she would 

stride through the growing hay crop and she replied that she did 

because she never felt it made much impression. She said it was full of 

wild flowers and lovely to walk in. She also confirmed that others 

using the land did not stick to the edge but just walked anywhere. 

 

127. Mrs Whitman was asked if she knew Mr Mills. She said that he 

had been their best man when they got married. She said she thought 

he was aware that her children and others played on the land but he 

never said anything about it to her. She described him as a gentle man, 

a very nice man, who went to the club regularly and had lots of 

friends. In relation to Mr Mills’ health she said that by 2010 she 

thought he was becoming quite ill. She said she had seen him 

occasionally in 2010 and he did not appear to know everyone but she 

said he was still Donald. Mrs Whitman was taken to the notes 

recording the detail of a conversation between Mr Mills and a surveyor 

(Mr Edmonds) and in particular recording that he was unhappy about 

people letting their dogs off leads and whilst she agreed that there was 

nothing irrational about such comments she had never heard of him 

saying that.  

Page 64



! $(!

 

128. Mrs Whitman was asked if she knew of Mr Romain. She said 

she did and that he was very friendly. Her husband loves horses and 

he was always out there. She said the horses were lovely, like the old 

gypsy horses, and were very friendly. She said that there had been two 

foals in the field that were quite frisky. There were only two or three 

horses in the field generally. When it was put to Mrs Whitman that Mr 

Romain did not want people there with dogs she said that he never 

said anything and to her knowledge never put a notice up. 

 

129. By way of confirmation as to what use Mrs Whitman had 

actually witnessed during the Application Period given that some of 

her evidence was clearly directed at a period before that she confirmed 

that she had seen dog walking, team games being played by family 

and friends’ children from the village, blackberry picking, bird 

watching, kite flying (when it was the craze) and sledging as recently 

as the previous winter. 

 

130. In her written evidence Mrs Whitman said that their activities 

were carried out openly. She said everyone could see what they were 

doing. She said that no-one has ever asked them not to use the land or 

to keep to the footpath and no attempt was ever made to restrict their 

use. 

 

Malcolm Green 

 

131. Mr Green produced a WS, jointly with his wife Sally, dated 24 

September 2014. They have lived at 1 The Haye, Front Street, since 

May 1999. Their home is adjacent to the Application Land and the 

footpath entrance at the northern end. Their view of the Application 

Land from the upstairs windows is excellent and they have a moderate 

view from the downstairs windows. Mr Green said he had seen two 

Page 65



! $)!

people walking off the public footpath that morning. Whilst he did not 

know who they were he did say that he knew people that did walk 

there such as Val Eastern with Poppy, the Cooks with their black 

Labrador, John, Pat with a poodle and a Mr Harrison with his dog. He 

said there were a number of others that he could not identify by name. 

He said he thought about 15 – 20 people a day have used the land, 

maybe twice a day. He described that as a very significant number. 

 

132. Between 1999 and their dog’s death in 2002 Mr and Mrs Green 

walked their dog on the Application Land, off the public footpath, 

almost every day and normally twice a day. Mr Green said they 

wandered everywhere. Their route was often determined by Lucy, the 

dog from Haverhill, who the Green’s dog would follow wherever she 

went. Mr Green thought the name of the people that had Haverhill was 

Griffin. Since the Green’s lost their dog they have occasionally walked 

neighbours’ dogs there.  

 

133. Less regularly or seasonally Mr and Mrs Green have walked, 

bird watched, taken photographs and picked blackberries and 

mushrooms on the Application Land. They have also seen other people 

doing those things, especially dog walking. Access is gained by other 

local people at either end of the footpath, from the allotments and 

through gates in peoples rear boundary fences. Further, Mr and Mrs 

Green have witnessed sledging, snowman building and snow ball 

fighting when there has been snowy weather although they have not 

participated in these activities themselves. 

 

134. There is a water trough on the Application Land feeds off the 

water supply to Mr and Mrs Green’s house although it is not 

something they have ever had dealings with the landowner about and 

not something they have objected to. 

 

Page 66



! $*!

135. When asked about hay growing on the land Mr Green said he 

recalled it growing regularly, certainly most years. He did not recall 

seeing silage.  In terms of the quality of the hay he said it depends 

upon whether one is looking it as a high powered feed or an 

environmental crop. He said he understood there were environmental 

restrictions and that Mr Mills was not allowed to cut the hay until late 

in the season. He said there was a nice crop of flowers and grasses all 

of which were allowed to seed by leaving cutting till late. He said the 

Application Land was a beautiful flower meadow in summer that 

attracted goldfinches and linnets. It turned out that Mr Green was well 

qualified to assess the nature and quality of the hay crop as he has a 

degree in the biological sciences and lectures on agricultural topics. 

 

136. Mr Green said that the grass would have got to a decent length 

of about 2 – 3 foot high but that it was not a very productive field. 

There was not a lot of rye grass and clover. When it was put to Mr 

Green that other witnesses seem to have disrespected the crop having 

felt free to stride through it he replied that it is not disrespectful as 

grass is tolerant stuff. He said that cattle do more damage to land than 

people or dogs and a few people and dogs would not damage the crop. 

Mr Green said that Mr Webster, during cross examination, was grossly 

overstating the damage to the hay crop that would be caused by 20 or 

30 people walking over the land which figure is a guess but based on 

the fact that if Mr Green has seen half a dozen people in half an hour 

then over the course of a whole day 20 or 30 people would be a 

reasonable estimate. He also noted that different people use the land at 

different times. He said that retired people would use it more during 

the day. For example, he said that he has rarely seen Pat in the field 

walking her dogs as she has a different pattern to him. 

 

137. It was suggested to Mr Green that no farmer would tolerate use 

of the land as described when hay was growing to which Mr Green 

Page 67



! %+!

said the reality is that the farmer did tolerate it. There were no signs 

erected and no-one was ever spoken to about it as far as he was aware. 

He said that he had never been spoken to by any one of the people 

farming the land.  

 

138. Mr Green was then asked to consider the inherent probability 

that if there had been a lot of people using the land there would have 

been tracks. Mr Green’s response was that if people wander all over 

the place then they would not leave tracks. If people stick to a specific 

route then one gets tracks. He said that the absence of marks on the 

ground in this case supports the TVG case.  

 

139. Mr Green did say that the footpath is well used and that he 

sometimes walked on it. He also said that whilst the footpath is well 

used generally people routinely go elsewhere on the Application Land 

too. He said that he would argue strongly that if there is a field of 4 

acres to walk over the average dog walker will not use tracks and will 

not leave tracks themselves. He went on to tell the Inquiry of 3 dog 

walkers he saw that morning and their routes. He said that was typical 

of the use over the years he had known the land. 

 

140. In relation to his bird watching activity Mr Green said he did it 

fairly regularly when the grass had not been cut. What he might see 

depended upon the grass but it included swallows, house martins, 

swifts, linnets and green woodpeckers. He said the birds vary with the 

way the land is managed as biodiversity changes. He said that when 

Mr Mills had the land the biodiversity was spectacular and it had been 

better again in this last year.  

 

141. He said that Mr Mills seasonally grazed the land. When Mr 

Green first arrived in Nympsfield hay was being grown from March to 

July or August and then cattle were on the land from August or 

Page 68



! %"!

September to November. The cattle, he said, were only on the field for 

about 3 months of the year. The land would then be resting from 

December to February. 

 

142. In his written evidence Mr Green said that all of the use he 

described was done openly, no-one ever gave permission for it and no-

one ever tried to stop them. He had never seen any signs asking that 

people desist from the activities carried out on the Application Land. 

 

Pat Jones 

 

143. Mrs Jones produced an EQ dated 11 February 2010 and a WS 

dated 30 September 2014. She has lived at Delahay, Townsend, 

Nympsfield, since 1974. Her house is about ¼ mile south of the 

Application Land. 

 

144. Since January 1980 Mrs Jones has kept, bred and trained 

standard poodles. Since then she has used the Application Land 

regularly for walking her dogs (more recently just the one dog). She 

said she normally entered the land through the entrance to the public 

footpath on Church Street and would do half a circuit clockwise 

around the field and either come back down the public footpath or go 

out at the top end of the land. She said she would sometimes go 

around the other way but it could get boggy along the southern 

boundary. Whilst she would normally keep to the perimeter she would 

occasionally use other parts of the field as well for training. However, 

during cross examination she said that she would sometimes vary her 

normal route and cut across the field half way. It might depend upon 

who was in their garden that she would want to go and chat with. Her 

use of the land has generally been 2 – 3 times per week but when there 

were cattle on the land she would use it less often. 

 

Page 69



! %#!

145. When her children were younger Mrs Jones said they would all 

toboggan on the land if there was snow. This activity took place 

between about 1985 and 1995. 

 

146. Of other people’s use of the Application Land Mrs Jones said 

that it was an every day occurrence to see other people off the footpath 

in the field and to see children playing there. She said that when 

blackberries are in season, whilst she does not do it herself, she has 

seen other people on the land picking them. She was able to name or 

identify a number of people that she recognised in the field. They 

include Malcolm and Sally Green, Todd Cook, Terry and Andy 

O’Sullivan, Mary Wooldridge, Jane and Richard Newman, Paul 

Harrison, John Fullard, a lady with a whippet, and man with a black 

Labrador, Dave and Janet Acton, Val Eastern and Mark Webber. She 

said they are all village residents and she could recall others too but 

could not remember their names. Some of those people are still on the 

village and some have now left. She also confirmed in cross 

examination that most people did not use the footpath but most people 

did let their dogs off the lead. 

 

147. Mrs Jones was asked if she knew Mr Mills and she said she did 

know him quite well. She said he was a very gentle man. When asked 

if she thought that he knew people were using the field she said he 

knew I was. He never mentioned it to her. It was drawn to her 

attention in cross examination that Mr Mills had told two surveyors in 

2010 that people kept to the footpath and that he did not like it when 

they let their dogs off the lead. She replied by saying that she was 

slightly worried about that because he had been ill for some time. If 

that was just before he went into care that he was questioned his illness 

had been slowly building up for the previous 18 months to 2 years. She 

said that he used to go to his cousin’s for lunch and she would 

regularly take him. He would tell her that he had been busy with his 

Page 70



! %$!

cows that day when he no longer had cows. She said that his illness 

gradually got worse. 

 

148. Mrs Jones was asked about the period after Mr Mills had 

vacated the land. She said that if there were sheep in the field she 

rarely went in. If there were horses in there, if they were to one side of 

the field she would go in with her dog on a lead. But generally 

speaking she would rarely go in when there were animals in the field. 

 

149. Regarding use of the land when there was hay in the field Mrs 

Jones said that when it was first cut she would not use the field 

because the hay sticks to a poodle’s coat. However, she would go in 

when there were furrows.  

 

150. In her written evidence Mrs Jones said that all her activities 

were carried out openly, that no-one gave her permission to use the 

land or tried to prevent her from doing so. 

 

Andrew Ball 

 

151. Mr Ball produced a WS jointly with his wife, Leisa, dated 25 

January 2014. They have lived at Malt House Cottage about 200 metres 

from the Application Land in Nympsfield since December 1990. 

 

152. Between January 1991 and 2014 they used the Application Land 

to walk their dogs, Cassie and subsequently Tesco, off the public 

footpath practically every day, normally at around 9 o’clock in the 

evening. He said the pattern remained the same throughout the time 

that he had used the land. Mr Ball said that he would go into the land 

from the Church Street entrance, across to the allotment boundary then 

cut across the land in the direction of a telegraph pole in the centre of it 

and forward to meet the footpath out onto Front Street. He had created 

Page 71



! %%!

a dead straight track that had caused some speculation as to whether it 

might be an animal track. However, it became clear that in the hours of 

darkness he would strike out across the land from the allotment 

boundary and would line up the telegraph poles against the skyline 

and walk towards them in a dead straight line. He said if you go even 6 

inches off that path the telegraph poles get out of alignment. 

Sometimes that usual routine would be varied to avoid the cattle or 

retrieve the dog and, in the autumn, to pick puff balls. 

 

153. Mr Ball said he was aware of the hay that had been grown in the 

field but said that it did not affect his activities there. He said he did 

know Mr Mills quite well until he stopped farming. When asked if Mr 

Mills knew about his use of the land he said he doubted it as he tended 

to go there quite late. 

 

154. Mrs Ball has used the land at other times of day too in her 

capacity as a teacher at St Joseph’s RC Primary School in the village. 

She has supervised groups of around 15 children for their cross 

country running club (September until January 2007 – 2011) who ran 

laps around the Application Land from around 3.20 – 4.00 pm on 

several weeks of the autumn term. 

 

155. In his written evidence Mr Ball said that all activities were 

carried out openly, that no-one had ever given them permission or 

tried to stop them. 

 

Andrew Derrick 

 

156. Mr Derrick and his wife, Jacqui, produced a joint EQ dated 18 

February 2010 and a joint WS that was undated. They have lived at 

Haverhill, backing onto the Application Land, since January 2009. They 

bought it from Janice and Nigel Griffin. When they moved into the 

Page 72



! %&!

property there were two entrances from the back garden into the 

Application Land, a stile and a gate. The rear boundary hedge was 

replaced with a fence in around April 2010 to secure the garden for 

their dog leaving only one point of gated access into the land. 

 

157. Since moving to Haverhill Mr Derrick’s two daughters have 

used the Application Land to play in for as much as 3 – 4 days per 

week during the summer and less frequently in the winter. In the 

winter of 2009 / 2010 the whole family sledged in the field. Both 

daughters have used the field for cross country running with St 

Joseph’s school.  

 

158. The Application Land has also been used regularly, if not on 

most days, to walk the dog. Mr Derrick said that they used no 

particular route. If there were no livestock they would let the dog off 

the lead and just follow it. If there are livestock the dog is kept on a 

lead and there are a couple of different routes they follow. Access is 

always gained through the gate in their garden fence. 

 

159. In their written evidence Mr and Mrs Derrick said they had seen 

other people playing, walking, dog walking, sledging and cross 

country running. When asked if he could name any of the people they 

had seen Mr Derrick named the Gazzard family, the Robinson family 

(boys), the Morgan children (girls), Catherine and Paul Harrison, Jane 

and Richard Newman, the McLean twins who play with his daughters 

in the field and he said that there were various other people that he 

recognised but could not name. 

 

160. When asked about a hay crop being taken from the field Mr 

Derrick said he had seen the meadow grass being grown and cropped 

but it did not affect his activities there save for when the hay was being 

cut and baled for a couple of hours. He thought that sometimes the hay 

Page 73



! %'!

was cut and baled on the same day. He said he would keep out of the 

way of the machinery. He thought the hay crop tended to be annual 

but he thought maybe one year had been missed. He said the length of 

the grass varied across the field but it could be up to 3 feet. 

 

161. Mr Derrick also said he had seen various livestock on the land; 

horses, sheep and cows. He said when there are livestock in the field 

people keep their dogs on leads. 

 

162. It was suggested to Mr Derrick in cross examination, after he 

agreed that there is a well worn track along the route of the right of 

way, that people predominantly used the public footpath. Mr Derrick 

said that they see people on the footpath and they see other people 

using the field generally. It was pointed out to him that there was little 

wear elsewhere on the land and Mr Derrick replied that it was because 

people are inconsistent about where they use the field. 

 

163. In his written evidence Mr Derrick said that all activities were 

carried out openly and without restriction, that no-one had ever given 

them permission to use the land or tried to stop them. 

 

Linda Woodman 

 

164. Mrs Woodman produced a joint WS with her husband, Robert 

Woodman, dated 27 June 2014. They have lived at Robins Hill, 

Townsend, Nymspfield, since June 1997 and between October 1992 

and June 1997 they lived at Haverhill which backs onto the Application 

Land. It was by reference to their residence at Haverhill that their 

evidence really related as since they moved to Robins Hill Mrs 

Woodman said the boys would play in the much bigger garden and 

the dog walking took place elsewhere. 

 

Page 74



! %(!

165. Whilst at Haverhill Mr and Mrs Woodman’s sons, Russell and 

Peter, used to play on the Application Land and take the dog for a 

walk there. They also used to cut across to their grandmother’s house 

at 1 The Haye. They were 11 and 9 at the time. They also went sledging 

in the winter. The boys used the Application Land about 5 or 6 times 

per week on average. A definite track led into the land from the gaps in 

the boundary of Haverhill so it was obvious it was being used as a 

point of access. 

 

166. It was Mrs Woodman’s evidence that they would see other 

people in the field. Other children would be there at different times, 

playing things like football, and people would be there walking dogs. 

They could see from their house over the hedge and as the land rises 

towards The Hay they could see anyone on the flat plateau at the top 

of the Application Land from their home. 

 

167. Mrs Woodman confirmed that she knew Mr Mills and that he 

farmed the Application Land and grazed animals there. When asked if 

people would take their dogs on the land when there were cattle there 

she said her boys did bit they kept the dog on a lead. She couldn’t 

speak for other people. 

 

168. In her written evidence Mrs Woodman said all activities were 

carried out openly, no permission was ever given and no-one had tried 

to stop them. 

 

Martin Phillips 

 

169. Dr Phillips and Katrina Douglas produced a joint WS dated 12 

November 2014. They have lived at Chapel House, The Cross, 

Nympsfield, since April 1994. They have two children born March 1994 

and December 1995. 

Page 75



! %)!

 

170. Between around 1995 and 2000 they would take the children for 

a walk around the village and would often visit the Application Land, 

at least weekly throughout the year, for the children to run around and 

play. They often saw dog walkers there. The land was also a popular 

venue for tobogganing when it snowed. Between the mid 1990s and 

the mid 2000s Dr Phillips said they would have been walking regularly 

through the Application Land. 

 

171. Later, from around 2004, they would allow their daughter to 

play there with her friends as they considered it a safe area unlike the 

PF with the traffic hazards of Tinkley Lane. One of her friends, Louisa 

Ridd, lived in the Old School House next door to the village hall and in 

very close proximity to the Application Land. The girls liked to make 

daisy chains in the summer with the profusion of wild flowers. She 

would go there about monthly over the summer over the course of two 

or three years. 

 

172. Dr Phillips has also ambled around the Application Land at 

various times, looking for mushrooms, mainly when the children were 

smaller in the 1990s. 

 

173. When asked if he would go in the field when there were animals 

there he said he had no recollection of animals there until quite 

recently. He said there may have been horses but he has no memory of 

cows. His recollection is that the grass was relatively long and not well 

grazed. He did not remember sheep. He did not remember hay 

making. 

 

174. He was asked if they would stick to the footpath when using the 

field. He said that generally he would but when the children were 

Page 76



! %*!

young they would let them run around all over the place and he 

suspected they went to the boundaries to look for blackberries. 

 

175. In his written evidence Dr Phillips said that all his activities 

were carried out openly, no-one ever gave them permission to use the 

land and no-one had tried to stop them. 

 

WRITTEN EVIDENCE FOR THE APPLICANT 

 

176. In addition to the evidence of those witnesses that appeared at 

the Inquiry the Applicant also relies upon a number of other WSs or 

statutory declarations and EQs (appearing behind tabs 3 and 4 of the 

Applicant’s bundle), some of which covered the whole of the 

Application Period and some that did not. Some of that evidence was 

produced by people whose names had become familiar during the 

Inquiry (having been mentioned by witnesses) and much of that 

evidence was consistent with the evidence that was heard at the 

Inquiry. 

 

177. I was also provided with a copy of the introduction to the 

Nympsfield Parish Plan 2007 (tab 5 of the Applicant’s bundle) that 

provides an overview of the village including its population, details of 

local amenities, and so on. Further, the Applicant produced plans 

delineating the Nympsfield civil parish boundary and the boundary of 

the Application Land together with a number of photographs (tab 6) 

that recorded aerial views, boundary features, recreational activity and 

details relating to other TVG applications at Sunningwell and 

Frampton. For the avoidance of doubt, whilst I have taken into account 

all of the evidence that has been provided to me in relation to this 

Application, I have not relied in coming to my decision upon any 

comparison with other, different TVG applications. 

 

Page 77



! &+!

178. Whilst it would be impracticable and would unnecessarily 

lengthen this report to analyse all of the additional written evidence  

can confirm that I have read all of the written evidence and additional 

documents provided in support of the Application. I do attach less 

weight to evidence that has not been tested and elaborated upon 

through cross examination but I do, nevertheless, recognise that where 

the evidence is corroborative of and absolutely consistent with 

evidence that I have had the benefit of hearing I must attribute 

appropriate weight to that. That positive approach to the assessment of 

the written evidence is, however, tempered by the fact that much (but 

not all) of the written evidence is general and lacks detail and precision 

about, for example, where on the Application Land activities have 

taken place, during which years exactly and with what frequency. The 

advantage of hearing from witnesses in person is, of course, that what 

is often rather general written evidence can be fleshed out with 

appropriate and relevant detail orally, which is what had occurred 

during the evidence of the Applicant’s witnesses. 

 

179. Whilst I have indicated above that I do not intend to analyse the 

additional written evidence there is one statement that I consider it 

appropriate to refer to given the importance of the subject with which 

it deals in light of the issues that were live at the Inquiry. Clare Pearch 

lives in Dursley and is, therefore, outside the claimed locality and she 

attempts to give no evidence in relation to use of the Application Land. 

However, she is the daughter of Mr Mills’ cousin. She and her family 

are Mr Mills’ closest relations and before he went into full time care 

they were his main carers. Without reciting her evidence in its entirety 

she says that by early 2010 the deterioration of Mr Mills’ mental 

faculties was becoming noticeable to his family and friends. Symptoms 

included not recognising people he had known for a long time and 

forgetting things that had happened just a few hours before. In her 

statement she says that towards the end of 2010 food was having to be 

Page 78



! &"!

taken daily to Mr Mills because if a weekly amount was delivered he 

would simply eat it all and it had also become necessary to ensure that 

he was taking his medication. I do not, of course, attribute to that 

statement the status of any kind of medical assessment of Mr Mills’ 

condition. However, I do consider that a close family member would 

be both best placed to give some insight into the health of Mr Mills at 

the relevant time and would be most unlikely to want to exaggerate his 

unfortunate circumstances. 

 

EVIDENCE FOR THE OBJECTOR GIVEN ORALLY 

 

180. I will deal with the Objector’s oral evidence in the same way 

that I have dealt with the Applicant’s. As with the foregoing, my 

review of the Objector’s evidence is intended to be nothing more than a 

précis, not a complete transcript of everything that was said. The 

Objector only, in fact, produced one witness to give evidence in person. 

 

Joe Hiram 

 

181. Mr Hiram produced a witness statement dated 16 October 2014. 

Whilst there were no documents formally exhibited to his statement he 

made reference throughout to documents that appeared in the 

Objector’s evidence bundles that consisted largely of documents 

extracted from the Objector’s managing agents files and a number of 

photographs and plans. He also referred to the submissions drafted by 

Counsel for the Objector which set out what is known about the 

agricultural use of the Application Land and cross referencing 

documents that had featured in the Inquiry. 

 

182. Mr Hiram is a consultant with Fisher German, the Objector’s 

managing agent since 2010. Prior to that the managing agent was 

Hamiltons who had been in that role since 1999. Mr Hiram had been a 

Page 79



! &#!

partner in Hamilton’s and had had dealings with the Application Land 

after 1999 in that capacity. A surveyor called James Edmonds at 

Hamiltons had also had involvement with the Application Land and 

matters arising out of this Application. Prior to Hamiltons the 

Application Land was managed by Davis Champion and Payne of 

Stroud, Hartnell Taylor Cook also of Stroud, and Bruton Knowles of 

Gloucester. 

 

183. There are certain matters that are not controversial such as the 

fact of the Application Land having been the subject of various 

tenancies / licences throughout the Application Period. From the 

beginning of the period the Application Land was tenanted by Mr 

Donald Mills under a tenancy dated 20 July 1970 (along with other 

land that is not relevant to this Application), the terms of which were 

those of an ordinary Agricultural Holdings Act 1948 tenancy.  Mr Mills 

surrendered his tenancy with effect from 25 March 2005. By July 2005 

Richard Smith was grazing sheep on the Application Land and he took 

a crop of hay or silage that year. There was then a further agreement 

that Mr Smith entitling him to graze the land and take a hay crop 

during the period 15 April 2006 to 31 October 2006. Mr Smith appears 

to have continued grazing the land and taking a hay crop during 2007 

and then allowed Paul Romain to graze horses on the land in 2008. Mr 

Romain then took an annual grazing licence of the Application Land in 

2008, 2009 and 2010. 

 

184. Mr Hiram’s personal experience of the Application Land was 

relatively limited which is hardly surprising given, as noted by Mr 

Hiram in his WS at paragraph 13, that it was a small parcel of land 

with a low rental yield meaning that the managing agents did not 

devote a great deal of time to the tenanted land. Mr Hiram did provide 

oral evidence of visits to the land in connection with a problem raised 

by the owner of Springland due to land slippage (it appears in around 

Page 80



! &$!

2001) and he said he visited the land in October 2004 to discuss Mr 

Mills’ surrender of his tenancy. He also visited the land in 2005 

following Mr Mills’ vacation of it. Further, he dealt with other issues as 

they arose from time to time such as rent reviews (through 

documentary evidence there appears to have been a visit in 2000 to 

discuss a rent review with Mr Mills) and the condition of the dry stone 

wall adjoining Church Street where there had been some slippage into 

the road. 

 

185. In respect of his visits to the Application Land he said that on 

none of his visits did he recall seeing anyone or indeed any evidence of 

informal recreation occurring within the Application Land and the 

only signs of wear and tear that he could see were around the western 

margins of the land. He also said that he had no recollection of any 

mention being made regarding unwanted trespass occurring on the 

Application Land and there were no written records of any such issues 

either. 

 

186. Mr Hiram described the land as permanent pasture that had 

been grazed extensively. He said he would not describe the pasture as 

good but agreed that it was commensurate with pasture that had been 

farmed in a low intensity way. During his oral evidence Mr Hiram 

confirmed that he would describe Mr Mills’ farming as low intensity 

farming.  

 

187. In his WS Mr Hiram sought to make some observations about 

the substance of documents (or lack of them) contained in the 

managing agents files. For example, he said that he suspected that had 

there been significant trespass by substantial numbers of people 

occurring over a prolonged period he would have been told about such 

matters. He also said in respect of the fact that the Application Land 

was mowed for hay that he was sure locals would have respected the 

Page 81



! &%!

growing crop. Of the tracks around the western margins of the land he 

said they would most likely be attributable to animals wandering 

around the edges. None of this is Mr Hiram’s direct evidence about 

what was occurring on the land but speculation as to how one might 

interpret the information that he did have. 

 

188. During examination of Mr Hiram he was taken to various 

documents and photographs which had featured prominently during 

the Inquiry. He was invited to interpret a series of aerial photographs. 

In the 1999 photograph he noted the fact of wrapped bales of either 

hay or silage. He also notes that the grass field does not appear to have 

been cut right up to the western boundary. The only thing he said he 

could see in relation to the impact of human feet was the line of the 

public footpath. 

 

189. In respect of the 2005 photograph he observed the existence of 

vehicular tracks coming from the gateway in the north of the land. On 

the 2006 photograph he noted the appearance of a straight line from a 

telegraph pole in the middle of the land to the western boundary. 

What caused it, he said, he did not know. On the 2008 photograph (the 

last one within the Application Period) he said there appears to have 

been a crop of grass cut that one would normally expect to be baled at 

some stage. He then gave evidence about the hay making process and 

the impact of different weather conditions. 

 

190. Some of the documents produced by the Objector originated 

from James Edmonds. Mr Hiram was unable to assist with where he is 

now except that he is no longer with Hamiltons and he thought he may 

be working in Bath. However, he confirmed that he had had no contact 

with him since he left Hamiltons. 

 

Page 82



! &&!

191. There were a series of documents relating to discussions with 

Mr Mills that assumed real prominence in the Inquiry. Mr Hiram was 

taken to them and they were a series of documents as follows. The first 

was an attendance note written by Mr Edmonds. It is dated 30 June 

2010 and records a conversation with Mr Mills during which he is 

recorded to have said: 

 

! People did walk across it and let dogs off – put signs up to keep 

to path. People kept to path, not dogs. Did say to them but no 

action. 

! Never used for football or other. 

! Did use for funeral parking – 6 cars, ½ hour as now. 

! Grazed and hay – never ploughed. 

! Dairy and beef. 

! Maintained boundaries. 

! Said is used now for church parking. 

! Happy for me to contact him again to sign a formal statement if 

needed. 

 

192. In correspondence to the Objector dated 1 July 2010 Mr 

Edmonds confirmed the content of his conversation with Mr Mills. On 

the same date he also produced a drawing of the Application Land 

setting out the physical characteristics of the boundaries. Then began 

Mr Hiram’s direct personal involvement when on 14 October 2010 he 

received under cover of an email from Rosalind Prue, Planning 

Solicitor for Blandy & Blandy (the Objector’s former solicitors), a draft 

statutory declaration for Mr Mills. That draft statutory declaration was 

clearly provided in anticipation of a meeting between Mr Hiram and 

Mr Mills. 

 

193. There was then a meeting between Mr Hiram and Mr Mills in 

October 2010 during which the content of the draft statutory 

Page 83



! &'!

declaration was discussed. That meeting took place at Mr Mills home, 

in his kitchen, and took about an hour over a cup of coffee. Mr Hiram 

had the draft statutory declaration with him but had not sent Mr Mills 

a copy in advance. Mr Hiram annotated the draft as they went through 

it. He said Mr Mills was an elderly gentleman who appeared to be 

living on his own. It was a friendly meeting and Mr Mills seemed fine. 

He liked talking about farming and his life. However, Mr Hiram did 

not know that he had delivered bread. 

 

194. The annotations that appear on the draft statutory declaration 

do give rise to some doubts about the accuracy of what Mr Mills was 

telling the Objector (through its managing agent). For example, in the 

original note of Mr Edmonds which he had recorded that he put signs 

up. In the annotated statutory declaration the reference to signs had 

been crossed through. In the attendance note Mr Edmonds had 

recorded that the Application Land was never used for football or 

other yet the annotations to the draft statutory declaration recorded 

that young lads kicked a ball about and cattle got used to people 

playing. 

 

195. Mr Hiram confirmed that the annotations were in his hand but 

said he was less sure about a line written under paragraph 8 which he 

thought was not his writing. After the meeting with Mr Mills he said 

he would have sent the annotated draft back to Blandys but would 

have kept a copy at the office. 

 

196. In addition to the annotated statutory declaration there was 

another page of handwritten notes that Mr Hiram confirmed were his 

and had been made at the time of his meeting with Mr Mills or maybe 

written down afterwards (there is no date on the document). In those 

notes it says “confused over period” and then ”last 20 years focus on 

it” suggesting that there was some difficulty in getting Mr Mills to 

Page 84



! &(!

appreciate or understand the period of time that was being discussed. 

This does give rise to some concern about the reliability of anything 

that Mr Hiram was recording or, indeed, anything that Mr Edmonds 

had recorded. 

 

197. The final pieces of correspondence regarding Mr Mills’ statutory 

declaration were produced in March of 2011. On 10 March 2011 Mr 

Hiram emailed Karen Jones of Blandys (in response, he thinks, to him 

being pressed for a finalised statutory declaration, an apparently 

partial copy of which appeared in the Objector’s documents) wherein 

Mr Hiram told Ms Jones he had spoken to Mr Mills, he was not in the 

best of health, and that he felt unable at that time to swear a statutory 

declaration. During their conversation Mr Mills had clearly given Mr 

Hiram some detail about the medical investigations that had been 

conducted over the preceding 12 months. That email went on to note 

that whilst Mr Hiram had thought Mr Mills had been confused at times 

during their meeting, he had not mentioned any of the information 

that he had now given to Mr Hiram just 5 months earlier when they 

had met. There is also a letter dated 16 March 2011 from Mr Hiram to 

Mr Mills wherein as well as confirming what had been discussed 

between them Mr Hiram concluded with “please don’t let it worry 

you”, suggesting that there had been some anxiety on the part of Mr 

Mills. In oral evidence Mr Hiram confirmed that he felt Mr Mills did 

not want any pressure. 

 

198. Concluding on the impression that Mr Hiram had got from his 

dealing with Mr Mills he said that Mr Mills had never said anything to 

give the impression he had had problems in the field and he felt that 

his statutory declaration would have confirmed and supported that. 

 

199. During cross examination Mr Hiram accepted that much of 

what he had said about the significance of the absence of references to 

Page 85



! &)!

trespassers in the files was his interpretation and his opinion but was 

not evidence of fact. 

 

WRITTEN EVIDENCE ON BEHALF OF THE OBJECTOR 

 

200. In addition to the evidence of Mr Hiram that is referred to above 

the Objector relies upon two statutory declarations dated 18 October 

2011. They have been produced and sworn by Paul Romain and Karen 

Bray, neither of whom were able to give their evidence to the Inquiry 

in person although I understand that efforts were being made even 

during the Inquiry to try and bring one of them to give their evidence. 

Their evidence is in very similar terms and records the fact that annual 

grazing licenses were taken in 2008, 2009 and 2010 for the purposes of 

grazing horses on the Application Land. They say that one of them 

would visit the land every day to check the horses and that they were 

in occupation of the land for about six months of each year. They both 

say that the public footpath was in regular use by members of the 

public but that to their knowledge people did not stray therefrom. 

They both say that they are not aware of the land being used by 

members of the public for any other purposes than walking the 

footpath. They each said that they had on numerous occasions spoken 

to dog owners about keeping their dogs on leads. Mr Romain said he 

had spoken to neighbouring owners about tipping garden waste on the 

land.  

 

201. In addition to the witness evidence the Objector adduced a 

significant amount of documentation from the managing agent’s files 

(some of which has been referred to in Mr Hiram’s evidence) 

(Objector’s bundle 2) together with a series of plans and photographs 

(Objector’s bundle 3). 

 

Page 86



! &*!

202. As with the Applicant’s additional written evidence, I will not 

set that out and analyse that in this report but I can confirm that I have 

read all of those documents and take them into account in drawing my 

conclusions. 

 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 

203. In addition to the witnesses that were called by the parties I did, 

as is usual at inquiries of this nature, provide an opportunity for any 

member of the public that wished to speak to address the Inquiry 

directly. Three members of the public did so. What they had to say is 

set out below. 

 

David Arnold 

 

204. Mr Arnold produced a copy of a manuscript note of what he 

wanted to say to the Inquiry. He has been a resident of Nympsfield for 

24 years and was the Chairman of the Parish Council co-incidental 

with the early stages of this Application. He wanted to express the 

level of support that the Application had from both residents and the 

Parish Council and to assure the Inquiry of the Parish Council’s 

ongoing support. Mr Webster was invited to ask questions of Mr 

Arnold but did not wish to do so. 

 

Ann Hardy 

 

205. Mrs Hardy lives at The Coach House, Woodchester Park, which 

is within the civil parish of Nympsfield and is where she grew up. She 

produced a typed statement of what she wanted to say. She is a Parish 

Councillor. The main thrust of what she wanted to tell the Inquiry was 

that she has rented two fields (Jimpsie’s field and one that runs parallel 

with it) from Donald Mills (and now from his power of attorney) since 

Page 87



! '+!

2007, two years after he retired. She used to see Mr Mills regularly 

when her cattle were in those fields. He enjoyed watching them and 

kept an eye on them. Like the Application Land, Jimpsie’s has a 

footpath running through it. She takes the view that it is a positive 

thing (except for dog mess in respect of which she erected signs) as 

people act as ‘lookers’ for her and will ring her if they think there 

might be a problem. She said that Mr Mills has never complained 

about the people that used the footpath in the field. 

 

206. Mrs Hardy was happy to be asked questions by Mr Webster. 

Mrs Hardy agreed that she was friendly with Mr Mills although their 

paths did not cross that regularly. It tended to be socially at village 

events. He had also delivered bread to Mrs Hardy’s parents.  

 

207. It was suggested to Mrs Hardy that he would expect people to 

keep to the footpath on his land rather than wander everywhere. She 

said “why, people do it in his fields while I am renting it”. She said he 

was a fatherly sort of figure and he liked her cattle. He felt he had 

slight ownership of them. If he had felt that dogs or people were a 

nuisance he would have told her. She said there was never a sign 

telling people to keep dogs on a lead and stay on the footpath. He has 

never told her to put up a sign to that effect. 

 

Winifred Morgan 

 

208. Mrs Morgan lives in 1B Little Bungalow, Church Street. She 

produced a copy of a hand written statement of what she wanted to 

say. She was born in the village. In so far as it has any relevance to the 

matters for determination at the Inquiry Mrs Morgan said that she had 

never been allowed on the land when she was young, she has never 

used the land and that other than seeing sledging there a few years ago 

Page 88



! '"!

she has seen nothing on the Application Land. She did, however, say 

that her grandchildren do now use it. 

 

209. Mrs Morgan said that people / children use the land on the 

other side of Church Street to play football. She said Mr Mills let them 

do it. 

 

SITE VISIT 

 

210. As is usual practice during the course of an inquiry into an 

application to register a new TVG I conducted a site visit accompanied 

by Carrie Denness of the Council and representatives of the parties 

together with some further members of the public. That site visit took 

place on Tuesday 11 November 2014 at 12.30 pm. It lasted for an hour. 

 

211. During my site visit I heard no evidence but I was mindful of 

the evidence I had seen and heard. I looked carefully at the whole site 

and paid particular attention to the features of the site that had been 

particularly prominent in evidence. As well as viewing the whole of 

the Application Land and its surrounds, at the request of the Objector 

we all visited the newer housing development on Tinkley Lane and the 

King George V Playing Field. 

 

THE PARTIES’ SUBMISSIONS 

 

212. What follows is a very brief summary of the parties’ 

submissions. I have, of course, read all of their submissions, closing 

submissions were made orally to the Inquiry and I had the opportunity 

to discuss some of the more contentious points with the parties’ 

representatives at that time and kept a careful note of those discussions 

to which I have referred back for the purposes of writing this report.  

 

Page 89



! '#!

For the Applicant 

 

213. The Applicant contends, as one would expect, that each and 

every part of the statutory test under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act is 

met. It is said that a significant number of the inhabitants of the locality 

(which the Objector accepts is a qualifying locality) have indulged in 

qualifying use of the Application Land over the relevant period. 

Reference is made to the population figures that appear in the Parish 

Plan as at the date of 2003. According to those figures the Applicant 

says that evidence has been collected from 60 people and that 

represents 17% of the 2003 population (but that does not account for 

WSs and EQs that refer to the use of numerous people within the same 

household unless it specifically names them individually at the head of 

each WS or EQ). Alternatively, if one counts households instead, the 

number of households that have produced evidence equates to 24% of 

the number of properties in the parish. The Applicant contends that he 

has produced evidence to meet the ‘significant number’ criterion. 

 

214. As noted above, the question whether the civil parish is a 

locality for the purposes of the 2006 Act is not contentious. It is 

accepted by the Objector, quite rightly, that it is. 

 

215. The Applicant submits that the user of the Application Land 

was ‘as of right’. In other words it was without force, without secrecy 

and without permission, according to the evidence. All of the 

Applicant’s witnesses said that they had used the land openly. They all 

said in their evidence that they had not been given permission to use 

the land and they all said they had never been challenged or stopped. 

Further, it was said that there had been no signs and no attempt 

through fencing, for example, to make it clear to people that they were 

being kept out. Dr Crossland said in closing that it would have been 

simple for Mr Mills to have put a stop to the recreational use of the 

Page 90



! '$!

Application Land by putting it abroad that he did not approve but the 

fact that he never did was a simple reflection of the live and let live 

attitude that prevails in Nympsfield. 

 

216. The Applicant contends that the activities in respect of which 

evidence was heard were wide ranging and amounted to lawful sports 

and pastimes. The Applicant refuted any suggestion that walking 

through a hay crop was not a lawful sport or pastime on the ground 

that (a) there was no evidence of damage, and (b) section 137A of the 

Highways Act 1980 distinguishes between grass (for hay or silage) and 

a cereal crop, the former of which can lawfully be grown across a 

public footpath and the latter of which cannot. 

 

217. Finally, it is said that the evidence of qualifying use that has 

been seen and heard at the Inquiry covers the whole of the relevant 20 

year period. 

 

For the Objector 

 

218. The Objector’s closing submissions set out that the material 

issues are sufficiency of qualifying use, interruption, whether use was 

as of right and the likelihood of the use being permissive use within 

the meaning of Mann v Somerset County Council. Mr Webster identified 

a number of issues that should also be borne in mind including the 

burden of proof; the effect on the evidence of the Applicant’s witnesses 

common aim; the fact that 20 years is a long time and the risk of the 

conflation of recent events with those occurring in the more distant 

past in the witness evidence; the fact that incontrovertible evidence 

such as photographs or evidence provided by those with no direct 

interest in the outcome is likely to carry most weight, inherent 

probabilities such as the likelihood of a farmer’s indifference to people 

wandering around his field of livestock for example. 

Page 91



! '%!

 

219. My attention was drawn to the physical state of the land and its 

general lack of suitability for some of those activities that the Inquiry 

heard evidence of (ie cycling, den building, ball games). It was also 

submitted that the land was not easily accessible to everyone in the 

locality. Further, the lack of tracks on the land (save for the public 

footpath) is relied upon as evidence that there was not general use of 

the land as there was no evidence of wear and tear. 

 

220. Reliance is placed on the evidence in relation to Mr Mills and his 

use of the land throughout much of the period for both grazing 

animals and taking a hay crop. Further, reliance is placed on what Mr 

Mills ‘actually said’ or more particularly what he did not say regarding 

trespassers on the Application Land. 

 

221. The Objector drew attention to what was said to be only a 

limited number of photographs of use of the land, suggesting that the 

lack of evidence in that regard indicated that the use in respect of 

which the inquiry heard evidence had not actually occurred. 

 

222. It was submitted that throughout the period qualifying use was 

predominantly by dog walkers at times when animals were not 

grazing. The presence of animals caused them to change their pattern 

of use if they did not completely abandon use of it during the grazing 

periods. 

 

223. Further, it was said that Mr Mills and Mr Romain took 

reasonable steps to communicate their opposition to the public’s use of 

the land by erecting signs and challenging people whose dogs were 

walking off the footpath. Any use in the face of that would be by force. 

 

Page 92



! '&!

224. Alternatively it was submitted that any qualifying use had been 

materially interrupted for prolonged periods. This appeared to be 

connected to the alleged displacement of users by agricultural use 

which seemed to be an alternative way of approaching the argument 

that the recreational use and agricultural use could not sensibly co-

exist. During closing Mr Webster accepted that if he was relying on 

hay making alone to argue material interruption he would have a 

problem but he submitted it is necessary to aggregate all agricultural 

use and that the cumulative effect of hay making and grazing is, he 

says, sufficient to constitute a material interruption (or ouster as he 

also called it in his opening submission). 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

225. On consideration of all the oral and written evidence submitted 

to the public inquiry (whether or not it has been specifically mentioned 

above but all of which I have taken account of) I make the following 

findings of fact. 

 

Recreational use 

 

226. I find that throughout the relevant 20 year period the 

Application Land has been used consistently by local people for 

informal recreation of the nature described in the evidence. I have 

heard from a number of witnesses, all of whom I found credible and 

the evidence of whom I have summarised in the foregoing. The 

evidence I heard satisfies me that the land has been extensively used 

by local people throughout the whole of the Application Period (after 

discounting use that was clearly outside the Application Period). I also 

find that such use has been of the Application Land as a whole and not 

confined to the public footpath and any informal track. 

 

Page 93



! ''!

227. I have had the advantage of hearing from a number of witnesses 

that have used the land for the whole of the period as well as some that 

have only used for part of it and who, between them, have satisfied me 

that the necessary quality and quantity of use has been indulged in to 

support this Application. I have also heard many witnesses talk about 

the use they witnessed others making of the land both at the same time 

as them and at times that they were simply able to view the land. 

Many of those other users have been named or at least identified, 

perhaps by reference to their dog.  

 

228. Having visited the Application Land and having seen the 

physical structure of the village around it, and I do accept what some 

of the Applicant’s witnesses said about the land being central to the 

village, it seems to me to be that the Application Land is a very 

attractive place upon which to indulge in informal recreation. It is 

rural, yet central (and therefore convenient and relatively safe) and 

ready access to it is provided by the entrances points, top and bottom, 

at either end of the public footpath. There are, of course, the further 

points of access from the allotments and from private gardens. It is 

unsurprising that people have used it in the way they say they have. 

 

229. In drawing this conclusion I have taken full account of the 

evidence for the Objector. However, it is to be noted that I did not hear 

from Mr Romain or Ms Brady and it appeared from the Applicant’s 

evidence that they were rarely seen on the Application Land. Their 

visits tended to be at either extreme of the day and their visits were 

largely short and functional. It seems to me that they were not really in 

a position to offer much in the way of evidence in relation to the 

recreational use that was being made of the land. Whilst their written 

evidence said that to their knowledge people did not stray from the 

footpath it is more likely than not in my view that their lack of 

knowledge stems not from the fact of recreational use not occurring 

Page 94



! '(!

but from their lack of presence on the land with any frequency at times 

of the day when people were using it. 

 

230. I have also taken note of Mr Hiram’s evidence in coming to this 

conclusion. Whilst he said he had never seen any recreational activity 

taking place on the land it is clear from his evidence that over the 

course of the last few years he has spent very little time at all on the 

land. I accept that he has interpreted the aerial photographs to mean 

that lack of evidence of wear and tear away from the public footpaths 

thereon means that there was no use away from the same. However, I 

do not accept that proposition. I accept, as some of the Applicant’s 

witnesses suggested (eg Crossland, Pittaway, Green), that use by 

people simply wandering around or playing randomly will not 

produce evidence of worn tracks. Lack of evidence of tracks does not 

mean no use and I am much more satisfied with direct evidence I have 

heard from people that have used the land than the speculative 

interpretation of aerial photographs that are of varying quality. 

 

231. I have also taken into account and weighed into my finding the 

evidence of Mr Romain and Ms Brady that they remonstrated with dog 

owners that failed to keep their dogs on leads and the evidence 

contained in the notes of the Objector’s managing agent about the fact 

that Mr Mills is said to have told people to stick to the path and had 

erected signs. 

 

232. However, a number of aspects of that evidence troubles me. 

Dealing first with Mr Romain and Ms Brady. I have not heard from 

either of them and their evidence has been subject neither to challenge 

nor elaboration. It is also inconsistent with the evidence of the 

Applicant’s witnesses who have universally denied being challenged 

in their use of the Application Land. 

 

Page 95



! ')!

233. Secondly, and this is evidence that was a central feature of the 

Inquiry, I do not accept on the balance of probabilities that Mr Mills 

did challenge people about their use of the land. Neither do I accept 

that he was not aware of the fact that the land was in general 

recreational use (not that that is relevant in any event if the use was 

open). A number of witnesses have said they had seen Mr Mills when 

they had been on the land and away from the footpath and he had said 

nothing to them. Further, Mrs Crossland in her evidence refers to a 

conversation with Mr Mills when he reminisced about his own play on 

the land as a child as they stood and watched children playing there. 

Given that he was resident in the village, very close to the Application 

Land, and farming a number of fields in the vicinity of it I find it hard 

to believe that he was not aware of the kind of use of the land that I 

heard evidence of and that I accept. 

 

234. I recognise that there are documents in the Objector’s evidence 

that on the face of it run counter to that finding. However, the draft 

statutory declaration was never finalised. In its draft form it was 

clearly inaccurate in part and incomplete. The annotations recorded 

thereon are inconsistent with some of the earlier notes that Mr 

Edmonds had made. I do not know what questions Mr Mills was asked 

to produce the answers he gave.  

 

235. And I cannot ignore the significant body of evidence I have 

heard and read that Mr Mills was unwell at the time that he was in 

discussion with Mr Edmonds and then Mr Hiram. I cannot, of course, 

be at all sure how unwell or what the significance of his state of health 

was. However, the evidence I have heard is sufficient to cast significant 

doubt on the reliability of anything that records one side of a 

conversation with Mr Mills. In reality I do not have any evidence 

before me from Mr Mills. I have hearsay evidence from Mr Hiram who 

records in his own correspondence that Mr Mills had been confused 

Page 96



! '*!

about the period they were discussing and then his surprise that Mr 

Mills had said nothing during their October meeting about matters that 

he later disclosed during a telephone conversation the following 

March. 

 

236. The evidence I have heard from local inhabitants of Nympsfield 

persuades me that Mr Mills was a central character in the village, he 

was a gentle man, well liked and clearly on good terms with everyone 

he knew. Given that part of his livelihood had been dependant upon 

good relations with members of the community I find it entirely 

plausible if not compelling that he would be unlikely to have been 

remonstrating with local people and erecting prohibitory signs. 

 

237. My conclusion is that whatever is recorded in the notes of 

conversations with Mr Mills may well be an accurate note but does not 

reflect the reality of the use of the Application Land in so far as it 

suggests there was no use other than footpath use. 

 

Agricultural use 

 

238. There is no conflict between the parties that the Application 

Land was subject to agricultural use throughout the period. The 

sequence of tenancies / licences is already set out in the evidence of Mr 

Hiram and I will not repeat the same here. 

 

239. There is also no contention that the Application Land was 

grazed each year (cattle, sheep, horses) and that in some years (but 

probably not all) a hay crop was taken. It was the evidence of the 

majority of the Applicant’s witnesses that neither grazing nor the 

growing of hay affected the way in which those witnesses used the 

land. In fact, the presence of horses in particular appears to have been a 

positive attraction. Dog walkers did say they kept their dogs on leads 

Page 97



! (+!

but still used the land in the same way. There were, of course, 

exceptions where fear of horses or cows caused people to stay away (eg 

Fullard). But those witnesses were in the minority. 

 

240. The Inquiry heard from Mr Green who was clear that striding 

through the hay crop was not likely to do any damage. The Applicant’s 

witnesses said that’s what they did. They kept away when machinery 

was in the field but the Inquiry heard that cutting took 2 or 3 hours and 

baling the same. 

 

241. There was some limited reference to electric sheep netting being 

used when Mr Smith was in occupation of the land but that did not 

stop people from using it. They were able to gain entry through the 

entrances at either end of the footpath.  

 

242. I find as a matter of fact that the agricultural uses to which the 

land was put did not have the effect, save in a limited way, of 

curtailing the use of the Application Land being made by the local 

inhabitants. Notwithstanding the fact that a small number of people 

stayed away the whole of the land was still in use, in my view, even 

during periods when there was livestock in the field, for informal 

recreation. 

 

Contentiousness 

 

243. It is the Objector’s case that use of the land was made 

contentious by steps taken by Mr Mills and / or Mr Romain. As I have 

said in the foregoing, I have not heard from Mr Romain. His statutory 

declaration says that he told people to put dogs on leads but I have 

heard no evidence to that effect from the Applicant’s witnesses and 

none were challenged on the point, not surprisingly, as it is not 

Page 98



! ("!

possible from the vagueness of Mr Romain’s evidence to identify who 

he might have spoken to.  

 

244. I have already made clear above that I am unable to accept that 

the written notes of conversations with Mr Mills are sufficiently 

reliable to make any positive findings of fact based on them. Not only 

do I not accept that Mr Mills challenged people who strayed from the 

footpath, I have seen absolutely no evidence of any signage. 

 

APPLYING THE LAW TO THE FACTS 

  

245. This section of my report will be structured by reference to the 

various components of the statutory test that I set out at the beginning. 

I remind myself that the burden of proof that the Application Land 

meets the statutory criteria for registration as a new TVG lies firmly 

with the Applicant. It is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land 

registered as a TVG and all the elements required to establish a new 

green must be “properly and strictly proved”. 

 

… a significant number … 

 

246. As noted at the beginning of this report, ‘significant’ does not 

mean that a considerable or substantial number of people must have 

made TVG type use of the land. It is not a mathematical test. It simply 

means that the number of people using the land in question in a 

qualifying manner has to have been sufficient to indicate to the 

landowner that the land has been in general use by the local 

community for informal recreation as distinct from occasional use by 

individuals as trespassers.  

 

247. When considering this part of the test it is necessary to discount 

any use that is not qualifying use. So, for example, use by people from 

Page 99



! (#!

outside the claimed locality would not contribute to that number 

(although that is not relevant in the present case). So, too, should user 

that is attributable to right of way type use as distinct from village 

green type use be discounted. In the present case, I have heard 

evidence of use of the public footpath. I have discounted that use in 

assessing whether the significant number requirement is met. 

 

248. It is my view that as a matter of impression sufficient numbers 

of the inhabitants of the locality have indulged in qualifying use of the 

Application Land throughout the Application Period. In coming to this 

conclusion I have had regard to the number of witnesses that I heard 

from, the frequency of their use throughout the whole of the period 

and the evidence that they gave in relation to use by others that can be 

clearly identified as having come from within the claimed locality.  

 

… of the inhabitants of any locality … 

 

249. A “locality” must be an area known to the law such as a 

borough, parish or manor. The Objector accepts that the civil parish of 

Nympsfield is a locality. 

 

… have indulged as of right … 

 

250. Save for use by Mr Ball who has used the Application Land after 

dark to walk his dog, there is no question that other people have used 

the land by stealth. It is my view that Mr Ball’s use, simply by virtue of 

the fact that it sometimes occurred in darkness, does not make it 

stealthy. Mr Webster, in closing, resiled from that argument and, in my 

Page 100



! ($!

view, correctly so. However, even if I am wrong about that, the loss of 

Mr Ball’s use from the equation has no impact on the significance of 

my finding in this regard. 

 

251.  Use by force is use that is contentious. I have found that there is 

inadequate evidence on the balance of probabilities that Mr Romain 

challenged people’s use such as to make it contentious. I have also 

found that the evidence, such as it is, of Mr Mills taking people to task 

when they strayed off the footpath is inadequate to make user 

contentious. I have also seen and heard no evidence of signs having 

been erected. I find that use was not, therefore, contentious and 

therefore by force. 

 

252. Mr Webster advances an argument that user may have been 

permissive within the meaning of Mann v Somerset County Council. In 

that case the owner of the land would periodically permit the carrying 

out of events on part of the land for which an entry fee would be 

charged. It was argued that by doing so the owner of the land was 

telling the local inhabitants that their use of the land otherwise was by 

its permission. Both the Inspector and the High Court adopted that line 

of reasoning. 

 

253. Mr Webster argues that the position is a fortiori where land is 

being farmed. I do not, however, see the parallel that he is trying to 

draw. There is no exclusion in this case from part of the land thereby 

making it clear that the land is otherwise being used by permission. 

The agricultural use and the recreational use in the present 

circumstances have co-existed, as is clear from the evidence. Mr 

Webster also advances an argument about interruption that I will 

address shortly but that is a different argument entirely. 

 

Page 101



! (%!

254. The argument that Mr Webster seeks to advance based on Mann 

is not only based on factual circumstances that I consider are readily 

and manifestly distinguishable, the result he contends for would be 

inconsistent with established authority which accepts that low level 

agricultural activity by the landowner is not inconsistent with 

qualifying user as of right<=;$>-$?&-)+$)9-../$56)5$56.$51,.$"8$8)-+&'9$

4)--&./$"*5$01$>-$>&::#$()#$:"($&'5.'#&51$8)-+&'9;$@6&:#5$6.$:)5.-$#)&/$

56.-.$()#$'"$8"-+):$4:)##&8&4)5&"'$)#$#*46$)'/$56)5$/".#$'"5$'.4.##)-&:1$

.7*)5.$(&56$ :"($:.A.:$)9-&4*:5*-):$)45&A&51$ &'$)'1$.A.'52$ &5$ &#$+1$A&.($

56)5$ 56.$ 8)-+&'9$ )45&A&5&.#$ 56)5$ 6)A.$ 0..'$ 4)--&./$ "*5$ "'$ 56.$

B,,:&4)5&"'$C)'/$/&/$4"'#5&5*5.$:"($:.A.:$)9-&4*:5*-):$)45&A&51;$D$/"$'"5$

)44.,5$>-$@.0#5.-E#$ #*0+&##&"'$ 56)5$ *#.$ "8$ 56.$B,,:&4)5&"'$ C)'/$ &'$

56&#$4)#.$()#$,.-+&##&A.; 

 

… in lawful sports and pastimes … 

 

255. I have no difficulty in concluding that the activities about which 

I heard evidence from the Applicant’s witnesses came within the class 

of lawful sports and pastimes for the purposes of the 2006 Act. Mr 

Webster says that one cannot take account of use which is conduct that 

is not reasonable. He says that use that results in damage to crops falls 

into that category. As a preliminary point I heard no evidence at all 

regarding damage to the hay crops and there was nothing to that effect 

in any of the notes produced from the managing agents files. So, 

whatever the legal ramifications of such conduct might be, there is no 

evidence of it in this case. 

 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

<=$@'(-0A$6,'1'@0#%"3'<':5105"9#'B&3&;C>':&;9%$5'FGH<HI$G$BJ$KH;$

Page 102



! (&!

256. In support of his argument Mr Webster relies upon Fitch v Fitch 

wherein it says “if the inhabitants come in an unlawful way, or not fairly, to 

exercise the right they claim of amusing themselves, or to use it in an 

improper way, they are not justified under the custom pleaded, which is to 

come into the close to use it in the exercise of any lawful games or pastimes, 

and are thereby trespassers …”. Firstly, in that case there was a claim to a 

customary right which whilst similar is in fact distinct from the right 

claimed in this Application.  

 

257. Secondly, it is clear that one has first to establish that that the 

manner of use is unlawful or unfair or improper. Save for the fact that 

people have walked through the growing grass, there has been no 

establishment by evidence that the nature of use by the local 

inhabitants meets any of the criteria in Fitch. If, as Mr Green said in his 

evidence, grass is tolerant, it will recover quickly and will suffer no ill 

effects of people walking through it in the numbers with which we are 

concerned then it would appear that none of the criteria in Fitch are 

satisfied in the absence of evidence to the contrary. I therefore reject Mr 

Webster’s submission that walking on the Application Land when the 

grass is growing for hay is not a lawful sport and pastime. 

 

… on the land … 

 

258. There has been no suggestion in this case that parts of the 

Application Land have been excluded from qualifying use. I am 

satisfied that this aspect of the statutory test is met. 

 

 

 

Page 103



! ('!

… for a period of at least twenty years … 

 

259. In the present case the relevant application period, as noted 

above, is 31 March 1990 to 1 April 2010. There is no doubt that I have 

heard evidence relating to the whole Application Period. However, Mr 

Webster contends that as a result of the agricultural use of the land 

there has been an interruption in any qualifying use of the land 

although he does not say specifically when the alleged interruption has 

occurred save in general terms.  

 

260. Mr Webster refers me to a passage from Taylor v Betterment 

Properties (Weymouth) Ltd [2012] EWCA Civ 250 where Patten LJ said 

“… there must be a physical ouster of the local inhabitants from the land and 

the disruption must be inconsistent with the continued use of the land as a 

village green. If two competing uses can accommodate each other (as they did 

in Redcar (No 2)) then time does not cease to run. But here the exclusion was 

complete …”. It is contended that when one has regard to the 

cumulative effect of growing grass for hay and grazing animals that 

must surely have amounted to physical ouster. Presumably Mr 

Webster’s argument is that there was repeated ouster.  

 

261. Mr Webster then referred me to the report of another Inspector 

in a case concerning the growth of arable crops and use of paths 

around the edge of the field. That is factually distinct from the present 

case. Moreover, there is no system of precedent in Inspector’s 

decisions. It is rare that much assistance can be derived from a report 

on an entirely different set of facts. 

 

262. I heard no evidence of circumstances that might be said, as a 

matter of fact, to amount to a complete physical ouster of the local 

inhabitants of the kind envisaged in Betterment. On the contrary, the 

Page 104



! ((!

facts in this case are much more consistent with the co-existing uses 

referred to in Redcar. Indeed, as a matter of fact, the evidence that I 

heard demonstrated to me quite clearly that the agricultural use and 

the recreational use co-existed with give and take when the hay was 

being cut and baled on the part of the inhabitants. I do not accept that 

any physical ouster occurred in this case that was sufficient to interrupt 

the period of use. I am satisfied that the qualifying use of the 

Application Land continued throughout the whole of the Application 

Period. 

 

… and they continue to do so at the time of the application … 

 

263. I accept that use of the Application Land did continue at the 

time of the Application.  

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

264. Before I set out my final conclusion I would like to express my 

thanks to the Commons Registration Authority for their efficient 

organisation of the Inquiry and the assistance that was provided to me. 

In particular I would like to express my gratitude to Carrie Denness 

who dealt with all matters arising prior to and throughout the Inquiry 

process in a very helpful and highly efficient manner. I would also like 

to express my thanks to the witnesses who attended and spoke to the 

Inquiry. Finally, I was greatly assisted by the parties’ representatives. I 

am grateful to them for their thoughtful analyses and submissions on 

the issues before the Inquiry.  

 

 

Page 105



! ()!

FINAL CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

265. I conclude that the Applicant has established that the 

Application Land is land on which for not less than 20 years a 

significant number of the inhabitants of any locality (the civil parish of 

Nympsfield) have indulged in lawful sports and pastimes as of right 

and continued to do so at the time of the Application. Accordingly, the 

Applicant has established that the land has become a new TVG for the 

purposes of the 2006 Act. 

 

266. Therefore, I recommend to Gloucestershire County Council as 

commons registration authority that it should amend the register of 

town or village greens by adding the Application Land as a new TVG. 

 

ROWENA MEAGER 

No 5 Chambers 

28 January 2015 

 

 

Page 106


	Agenda
	3 Application for the registration of land known as "The Glebe / The Leaze", West of Front Street and North of Church Street, Nympsfield, Stroud,
	AI3 Appendix 1
	APPENDIX 2
	AI 3 NympsfieldTVGReport27 01 15 (amended)


